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1
  'Mill Road Bridges seeks to grow and maintain the community spirit, heritage and rich cultural diversity of the Mill Road area by 

improving the flow of information between and about individuals, businesses, voluntary organisations and local stakeholders.' 
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NOTE 
 
This report was produced by John McGill and edited by Sue Wells, both residents of Romsey Town, 
Cambridge and volunteers for the Project.  The focus of the report is the area (approximately 155 
acres) lying east of Brookfields/.Ǌƻƻƪǎ wƻŀŘΣ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ǿŜǎǘ ƻŦ /ƘŜǊǊȅ IƛƴǘƻƴΣ ŀnd 
north of Cherry Hinton Brook/Snakey Path. Previously used for quarrying and cement production, 
the area is bisected by the Cambridge to Newmarket railway line, and is now characterised by open 
lakes south of the railway, and some commercial and recreational uses, and undeveloped open 
space north of the line.    
 
The area is currently classified as an Area of Major Change by the local planning authority 
(Cambridge City Council, 2014). 
 
 
 
National Grid reference (centroid)  
 
TL 548108 257422     X: 546555     Y:257684 
Latitude: 52.197914, Longitude:  0.14291009 

 
 

__________________
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INTRODUCTION 
 
A visit to the Brookfields area of Cambridge, lying at the far eastern end of Mill Road and beyond the 
Ring Road, can give the impression of entering an out-of-the-way leafy neighbourhood: sweeping 
willows fringe the gently flowing Cherry Hinton Brook; birdlife splashes about; wooded lakes glint 
through the trees. Yet up until the 1980s this was a centre of manufacturing in Cambridge. Two large 
cement works and an artificial stone works dominated the area, with five enormous quarry pits, that, 
while creating some employment, regularly blighted the surrounding streets with dust and noise.  
 
Expanding on the local coprolite and lime excavation industry which had pitted the nearby fields since 
at least the 1850s, the growing late 19th-century market for lime-based products ς essentially cement 
ς prompted entrepreneurs to exploit the local rich lime/clay seams by establishing lime and cement 
processing works of increasing sophistication: first the Romsey Town Lime and Cement Works on Mill 
Road / Brookfields; then the Saxon Portland Cement Works on the site of the present day Territorial 
Army base; then the Atlas Artificial Stone Works whŜǊŜ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩs supermarket now stands; and 
lastly the Norman Portland Cement Works on land lying between the Newmarket rail line and the Tins 
footpath, where the Travel Lodge and the David Lloyd gym are found.  
 
Though the Saxon Works and, more particularly, the Norman Works were written up at the time as 
being notably innovative in the industry, modernization and rationalisation eventually led to the 
closure of the former in the 1920s and the latter in the 1980s.  
 
The Brookfields area, essentially the eastern part of Romsey Town, is a model of a landscape in 
transition: from rural, to industrial to post-industrial. Prior to the late 19th century, the area was 
predominantly countryside ς the land divided into fields crossed only by Cherry Hinton Brook, 
ŀƎǊƛŎǳƭǘǳǊŀƭ ŘǊŀƛƴǎΣ ǘƘŜ /ƘŜǊǊȅ Iƛƴǘƻƴ ŦƻƻǘǇŀǘƘΣ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ bŜǿƳŀǊƪŜǘ Ǌŀƛƭǿŀȅ ƭƛƴŜ. By 
the late 20th century the area was a thoroughly built-up part of Cambridge City, intersected by 
numerous roads, and under an active flight-path from Cambridge Airport. Now in the early 21st 
century, there are initiatives to turn the legacy of the intervening industrial period ς the three large 
lakes ς into conservation and recreational assets for the city.   
 
For the sake of convenience, the recent history of the area can be described as having several phases:  

¶ 1800s to 1900 ς generally rural, with lime digging and burning (which most likely pre-dated the 
1800s), and later coprolite mining; the former not greatly widespread, though the latter was 
quite intensive;   

¶ 1900 to 1950 ς with the dominance of large lime /clay based manufacturing plants and the 
ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ψ±ƛŎǘƻǊƛŀƴ κ 9ŘǿŀǊŘƛŀƴΩ ǳǊōŀƴ ƭŀȅƻǳǘ ƛƴ 9ŀǎǘ wƻƳǎŜȅ ¢ƻǿƴΤ 

¶ 1950 to 1980s ς the development of the Ring Road system and the new residential areas 
around it, and the closing-down of the heavy manufacturing plants; 

¶ Post 1980s ς the post-industrial landscape, with new service-orientated land uses and the 
consolidation of the area as an urban part of Cambridge.   
 

As may be expected, there are gaps in the information ς most particularly the records of the 
manufacturing works ς yet these might come to light in time. The latter years (1980s to 2014), 
however, are well documented, especially as concerns the options for the re-development and/or 
conservation of the ex-industrial area, filled-in pits, and the lakes.    
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1800s to 1900s: Lime and Coprolite Mining 
 
Cambridge, not widely thought of as an industrial city, has a history of mining, quarrying and 
processing. The usefulness of lime as a fertilizer and as a counter to high soil acidity, has been known 
for centuries, and exploitation of local chalk seams, to be burned and crushed to produce lime, is 
recorded in The Economic History of Cherry Hinton as taking place in the first years of the 19th 
century, with small-scale digging and burning in the Limekiln Road area, though the practice may well 
preŘŀǘŜ ǘƘŀǘΦ bŜǘƘŜǊƘŀƭƭ CŀǊƳ ό²ƻǊǘΩǎ /ŀǳǎŜǿŀȅ κ vǳŜŜƴ 9ŘƛǘƘΩǎ ²ŀȅ ŀǊŜŀύ ƛǎ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴŜŘ ƛƴ ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊΦ  
 
The work was more artisanal than industrial, and offered little or no full-time employment. Kilns were 
generally individually owned and locally operated, being erected around manually dug pits. The burnt 
lime was then sold on either by the individual kiln operators or by dealers. 
 
IŀǊŘ ōƭƻŎƪǎΣ ƻǊ ǎǘƻƴŜǎΣ ƻŦ Ŏƭŀȅ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ ΨŎƭǳƴŎƘΩ ǿŜǊŜ ŀƭǎƻ ƳƛƴŜŘΣ Ƴŀƛƴƭȅ ŦƻǊ ǳǎŜ ƛƴ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ 
the local clay seams were also exploited for brick-making ς again mostly on an artisanal basis. Large 
scale commercial brick making in the region was generally centered on the Oxford Clay formation 
running from Bedfordshire to Peterborough, a little north of Cambridge.   
 

 
Figure 1  Local Geology. Reading from the northwest to the southeast ς light green = sands 

& gravel; dark blue = gault clay; dark green = chalk marl; grey = grey chalk; light blue = 

middle chalk; very light blue = upper chalk; cream = quaternary clays. Locations of cement 

works are shown in black; towns & villages in red (Dylan Moore) 

 
However, the main focus for mining in the area became coprolites, dŜŦƛƴŜŘ ŀǎ ǇƘƻǎǇƘŀǘƛŎ ƴƻŘǳƭŜǎΩ or 
phosphate-rich fossilized faeces, which were ground and used as an excellent fertiliser. Coprolite 
mining was first recorded in the early 1850s, before which they had only been found by accident, often 
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through excavation for other materials such as clay in the rich band running roughly southwest to 
northeast of the city.  As their value became evident, there was a local economic boom around 
Cambridge, with excavation on lands all around the city and the villages beyond (Figure 2). Large 
ŘŜǇƻǎƛǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŦƻǳƴŘ ƻƴ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ /ƻƳƳƻƴ ŀƴŘ ƛƴ ƭŀƴŘǎ extending towards Mill Road, and the 1886 
OrdnaƴŎŜ {ǳǊǾŜȅ ƳŀǇ ǎƘƻǿǎ ŎƻǇǊƻƭƛǘŜ ǿƻǊƪǎ ƻƴ ōƻǘƘ ǎƛŘŜǎ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΤ ƻƴŜ ǿƘŜǊŜ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ 
now stands.  
 

 
Figure 2  Indication of coprolite workings 

around Cambridge 1850sς70s (Richard Grove) 

 
By the mid-1870s, though, the industry was in decline (possibly due to the supply of fertiliser from 
other sources, perhaps such as guano), and only a few pits around east Romsey Town were still in 
operation by the late 1890s. Nevertheless, in some places where coprolite had been dug, the 
possibility of excavating material for processing into cement became evident. 
 
Dylan Moore, who has written extensively on cement production, describes the local geological 
conditions. He states that the chalk escarpment (grey-green in Figure 1) is the extension of the 
Chilterns that has flattened out in East Anglia, revealing wide anŘ ƘƛƎƘ ǉǳŀƭƛǘȅ ŘŜǇƻǎƛǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ тл80% 
calcium carbonate, making exploitation for cement production particularly worthwhile.    
 

The Brookfields Area prior to the 1900s  
 
The 1886 Ordnance Survey map (Figure 3) shows a clear dividing line between town and country. 
Lands lying to the east of the parliamentary and municipal boundary (the alignment of what is now the 
ǊƛƴƎ ǊƻŀŘΩ ς Brooks and Perne roads) are essentially agricultural, while land to the west is urbanising. 
Romsey Town has most of its streets, yet the terraces of housing are incomplete: many house lots in 
Cyprus, Suez, Madras and Hobart are undeveloped; Vinery Road and Seymour have few houses; 
Montreal Road is a street with no buildings; yet the pattern of urban development is set. Beyond the 
boundary lie fields, with a few coprolite works (presumably scarcely economic by 1886) extending 
ƴƻǊǘƘ ŀƴŘ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŀƭƭȅ ōȅ ŀ ǘǊŀƳǿŀȅΦ .ǊƻƻƪŦƛŜƭŘǎ ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ŀƴ ǳƴ-
made-up road and Burnside a footpath, which continues north alongside Cherry Hinton Brook up into 
/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ /ƻƳƳƻƴΦ  
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Figure 3  1886 Ordnance Survey map of the east the Brookfields area (Ordnance 

Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd) 

 
The Tins footpath is also there, leading off from a foot bridge. The other main feature is the railway 
which used to connect the Newmarket and Bury line straight to Cambridge station. It ran from the 
current line alignment where the Travel Lodge now is, along what is now Budleigh Close, alongside 
Marmora Road to the north of what is now Greville Road, and across Charles Street into the station 
yards; Argyle Street is curved to accommodate the line.  !ǇǇǊƻǾŀƭ ŦƻǊ ǊŜŀƭƛƎƴƳŜƴǘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ 
Common, to allow better access to Cambridge station, was obtained in 1895, and the old alignment 
closed in the mid-1900s.  
 

 
1900 to 1950: The Advent and Stabilisation of the Cement Industry 
 
By 1910 the situation had changed. The cement industry had been established, with the Romsey Town 
Cement and Lime Works on Brookfields (just west of what is now the Brookfields Hospital), the Saxon 
Cement Works just east of Cherry Hinton Brook (where the Army Reserve now is, see footnote below), 
and the Atlas Artificial Stone Works just west of the brook (where SainsburȅΩǎ ƴƻǿ is). The larger 
Norman Cement WƻǊƪǎ ǿŀǎ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ŜŀǎǘΣ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ Ǌŀƛƭǿŀȅ ŀƴŘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ 9ȄŎŀǾŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
clay pits had commenced. Moreover, the area had become built-up and houses now extended all the 
way to Burnside.  
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The Development of Portland Cement2 
 
In the 1820s a Leeds stone mason, Joseph Aspdin, received the patent for Portland cement. He mixed 
lime, burnt from high quality limestone, with clay, and then crushed the wet mixture. This was then 
dried, crushed again and calcinated in a kiln to produce a powder which, when set, closely resembled 
the oolitic limestone of Portland Bill which was (and still is) considered a superior building stone. The 
first large-scale commercial use of the cement was in the building of the Thames Tunnel linking 
Wapping and Rotherhithe in 1828. As the material gained in popularity, areas where high-grade 
limestone could be readily accessed, processed and transported became increasingly subject to survey 
and speculation.   
 
As described above, the local coprolite mining exposed the rich chalk escarpment running south and 
east of Cambridge, and works were established.  
 
Cement Works in the Cambridgeshire Region 
 
Below is a chart, taken from Dylan Moore, listing the cement works in Cambridgeshire from the most 
to the least productive.  A concentration can be seen in the Barrington/Meldreth/Shepreth area. The 
Barrington works easily dwarfed all other works, though it remained in production far longer and was 
the last to close. All are closed, and it appears that the industry, once so large an economic factor in 
the region, is now past.  
 

Name Location Opened Closed Approximate 
total output 

(tonnes) 

Ownership 

Barrington Barrington 1927 2008 19,300,000  9ŀǎǘǿƻƻŘǎ όмфнп62) 
wǳƎōȅ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ όмфсн79) 
Rugby GrƻǳǇ όмфтф2000) 
wa/ όнллл05) 
/ŜƳŜȄ όнллр08) 

Norman Cambridge 1904 1984 6,300,000 Norman tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻΦ [ǘŘ όмфлп11) 
BPCa ό.ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜύ όмфмм84) 

Saxon Cambridge 1901 1927 620,000 Saxon tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻΦ [ǘŘ όмфлл11) 
.t/a ό.ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜύ όмфмм28) 

East Anglian Shepreth 1892 1934 390,000 East Anglian Cement Co. Ltd 

Burwell Burwell/Fordham 1892 1932 240,000  R. Stephenson and Son 

Cam Blue Lias Shepreth/Meldreth 1891 1934 210,000 /ŀƳ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻΦ όмуфм1900) 
Cam Blue Lias Lime and Cement CoΦ όмфлл34) 

Rhee Valley Shepreth 1888 1934 169,000  Rhee ±ŀƭƭŜȅ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻ όмууу1910) 
Wiggins and Co. (HammersƳƛǘƘύ [ǘŘ όмфмл27) 
wŜŘ ¢ǊƛŀƴƎƭŜ όмфнт31) 
²ƛƎƎƛƴǎ ŀƴŘ {ŀƴƪŜȅ [ǘŘ όмфом34) 

Standard Barrington/Shepreth 1883 1906 103,000 Natural PortƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻΦ όмууо99) 
{ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻΦ [ǘŘ όмуфф11) 
BPCM (1911) 

Royston Barrington/Shepreth 1892 1904 38,000 Royston Cement Co. 

Romsey Town Cambridge 1892 1915 34,000 Romsey Town Cement and Lime Co. 

Meldreth Meldreth 1888 1908 33,000 Meldreth Portland Cement and Brick Co. Ltd 

Bottisham Lode Lode 1896 1920 15,000  Bottisham Lode Mill Cement Co.  

Hauxton Hauxton 1895 1903 4000  Edward C. Colchester 

(Dylan Moore) 

                                                           
2
 What is now called the Army Reserve was, until 2011, called the Territorial Army, and prior to that the Territorial Force. The current 
ōŀǎŜ ƻƴ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ƛǎ ǎǘƛƭƭ ƻŦǘen referred to as the TA base, and the lake that lies within the grounds as the TA lake.   
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In many cases the sites of the disused works have returned to agriculture, with their marl pits now 
small lakes. Some, however, have been developed ς the Meldreth site is now the Eternit Marley works 
(see below), the Romsey site on Mill Road has had a history of re-development, and the Saxon works is 
now a Territorial Army base. Being the largest, the re-development of the Norman and Barrington 
sites is still (2015) under discussion ς the former is addressed below, and the latter is currently subject 
to proposals, contested by the village council, that include a mix of housing and recreation. The vast 
quarry at Barrington, which, being excavated into the side of a hill, is only slightly flooded, is in the 
process of being rehabilitated, though the cliffs on the west, north and east sides may well remain.  
 
It is noteworthy that, as Moore states, British Portland Cement Manufacturers (BPCM ς ǎŜŜ National 
Cement Companies ς BPCM, ACPM, Blue Circle aƴŘ [ŀŦŀǊƎŜΩ below) acquired the Burwell and the 
Royston/Standard works in their latter years to create a marl reserve for the Norman works, though it 
was never exploited.  

Brief Description of the Cement Manufacturing Process 

/ŜƳŜƴǘ ƛǎ ŦƻǊƳŜŘ ōȅ ōǳǊƴƛƴƎ rawmixΩ (marl) in a kiln to produce clinker, a calcium based material, 
which is then ground.  The rawmix consists of a mixture of materials that react together to form 
calcium silicates which make clinker a very strong material, ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ōȅ 5ȅƭŀƴ aƻƻǊŜ ŀǎ Ƴŀƴ-made 
ƛƎƴŜƻǳǎ ǊƻŎƪΩ. High-quality clinker, such as that produced at the Norman Works, requires little 
addition of other minerals and was manufactured from the high-grade marl excavated from the 
surrounding marl pits. The catalytic agent is water, which sets off a chemical process resulting in 
applied cement which is strong, consistent and durable; the finer the clinker is ground, the quicker the 
effect of hydration. 

The Saxon and Norman works used the rotary kiln process which produced clinker in the form of small, 
generally uniform lumps. Rotary kilns were used in two ways: either to grind raw materials with the 
addition of water, which formed a slurry, after which the water was buǊƴŜŘ ƻŦŦ όǘƘŜ ǿŜǘΩ process); or 
to grind tƘŜƳ ŘǊȅΣ ǘƻ ŦƻǊƳ ŀ ǇƻǿŘŜǊ όǘƘŜ ŘǊȅΩ process).  Initially the ŘǊȅΩ rotary system was used but 
with the development of a longer kiln in the early 1900s, the wetΩ system gained popularity with 
manufacturers, although this requires more fuel. Moore states that the average size of a rotary kiln in 
1900 was approximately 60 feet, but by 1901 one Thomas Edison was proposing a 150 feet long kiln, 
which was far more economic, and allowed effective wetΩ processing.   

Moore suggests that, in the early decades of the 1900s, the ready availability of coal in Britain meant 
that British manufacturers used the wetΩ processing method. However, in Germany and Japan, both 
countries with a pioneering industry but less ready access to natural resources, the more fuel-efficient 
dryΩ process was used.  Moore makes the interesting point that use of the wetΩ process meant that 
cement-making plants in Britain were restricted to the locations where good chalkΩ could be found, 
with dryΩ plants not being so tied to the source of their basic material. Thus, a degree of un-
competitiveness entered the British industry from which it was difficult to emerge. The Saxon and 
Norman Works may have been subject to this trend.    

Quarrying 

Methods of excavating the marl needed for the milling process evolved over the period during which 
the Saxon and Norman works were in operation. In the late 19th century the work was primarily 

http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/ck_clinker.html
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manual, as can be seen in Figure 4 (which, though not being of the Cambridge works, indicates 
contemporary practice). The seam was uncovered, trenches dug into its side, the marl then loosened 
and shot down into a waiting trolley to be wheeled off to the works. The work was slow, labour-
intensive, and, as can be seen in the photograph, lamps allowed excavation to be continued into the 
evening. While employment was relatively high, the extent of excavation was necessarily limited.  

By the early 1900s mechanisation was increasingly employed. Figure 5 (again, not Cambridge) shows a 
mechanised digger working away at a chalk face, dumping the marl straight into a waiting series of 
wagons attached to a locomotive. The process is far more expeditious, though still requiring several 
workers. Figure 6 shows a highly-mechanised process that has not been recorded as used at 
Cambridge, though it does indicate how excavation was, in places, becoming far more intensive.  

Figure 7, dating from the late 1960s to the late 1970s, shows a Ruston dragline at work ς a single-
person-operated digger depositing material into a waiting line of rail-based wagons. This is the type of 
process by which the latter Norman Works excavated the two large pits running between the Tins 
footpath/Railway and Cherry Hinton Brook. The system is simple, and requires minimal employment. 
This picture does not represent the practices used in contemporary quarries, which are seemingly 
completely vehicle-based operations, the laying of rails being considered inflexible and too costly.    

 

Figure 4  manual quarrying, probably late-19th centuryy 
(http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/millsetc.html) 

 

Figure 5  early mechanised quarrying, straight onto rail 
transport (http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/millsetc.html) 

 

Figure 6  intensified mechanical drag quarrying, 
probably 1930s 

(http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/millsetc.html) 

 

Figure 7  1970s quarrying, a Ruston dragline like those 
used at the Norman Works, operated largely by one 

person (http://www. flickr.com) 
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Figure 27 (an aerial view of the Norman Works together with its northern marl pits) shows a digger, 
similar to that in Figure 5, at work.          
 
Local Cement Production Companies 
 
In the period 1900ς85 there were four cement and/or cement-related companies in the east Romsey 
Town area: the Romsey Town Cement and Lime Company (on Mill Road, where the new mosque is 
scheduled for development); ǘƘŜ {ŀȄƻƴ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ό/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀne, where the Army 
Reserve centre now is); ǘƘŜ !ǘƭŀǎ !ǊǘƛŦƛŎƛŀƭ {ǘƻƴŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ό/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ƻŦ ǇǊŜǎŜƴt-day 
{ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎύ; ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ bƻǊƳŀƴ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ό/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƛte now occupied 
by Travel Lodge/David Lloyd Gym).  
 
The Romsey Town Cement and Lime Company 
 
The Romsey Town Cement and Lime Company, founded in 1892, was the first cement works in, or 
directly abutting, Cambridge, and it had its works where Mill Road meets Brookfields.  Dylan Moore 
implies that the site may have started as a coprolite mine, but it eventually developed eleven kilns, 
with production being distributed by road, as it had no rail or tram connection. The works was not a 
great economic success, and it closed in 1915, after which the site came to be used as The Cam 
Foundry and Iron Works and as a sawmill until sometime in the mid- to late 1950s or early 1960s. In 
1965 the Magnet bowling alley was built on the land, which was later converted to a warehouse for 
the Robert Sayle department store.3    
 
The Saxon Portland Cement Company 
 
The Saxon company was founded in 1900 and started production in 1901 on land east of Cherry 
Iƛƴǘƻƴ .Ǌƻƻƪ ŀƴŘ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ, land which, according to Ordnance Survey maps, had not 
itself been mined for coprolites although there were mines to the north and west. It was a different 
kind of affair to the Romsey Town Works, with greater investment and far advanced technology. 
Financing was provided by the Keeble brothers of Royston, who had interests in other cement works 
such as Barrington. The brains of the enterpriseΩ, as Dylan Moore describes it, was a Mr A C Davis.     
 
A C Davis, trained as a chemist, has been described as a pioneer on the national scale in the 
development of cement technology, introducing greater chemical and engineering rigour into the 
industry, and he wrote on the subject (Portland Cement and A Hundred Years of Portland Cement). In 
his earlier years as an independent producer he was considered a maverick, disparaging of the 
dominant interests in the business. In time, however, he became a pillar of the system, becoming 
managing director of the Association of Portland Cement Manufacturers (APCM) through which most 
of the smaller UK independent producers were amalgamated, and resident of Barrington Hall. Sir 
Charles Davis (by then not using the Arthur) was appointed Lord Mayor of the City of London in 1945.  
 

                                                           
3
 See L M Sieveking, J Gooch and O Daly, A History of Robert Sayle (Cambridge: John Lewis Cambridge, 2004; rev.  2008; rev. 2013), 
ǇǇΦ мрф ср. 
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Figure 8  a curious photo of A C (Sir Charles) Davis when 

Lord Mayor of London 
(http://www.chessgraphics.net/rr.htm) 

 

The works had eight Schneider kilns and, according to Dylan Moore, it represented the best dry 
process technology of the timeΩ. Moore continues:  

Crushed marl was fed to a Smidth dryer, then ground with successive edge-ǊǳƴƴŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ DǊƛŦŦƛƴ ƳƛƭƭǎΧΦ 
After blending and correcting, the raw meal was damped and pressed into bricks of house-brick 
dimensions. The kilns, with one 45 m stack for each set of four, were operated on natural draught. The 
output was as indicated by Davis much later: initial output (from eight kilns) on natural draught was 560 
t/week, and the introduction of forced draught in 1904-1906 raised this to 1200 t/week.  

Moore describes a Griffin mill, introduced in the 1880s, as one of the first to be made of steel, as 
opposed to previously used stone, giving it a far longer life.   

 

Figure 9  The Saxon Works, probably in the late 1910s, and 

probably photographed ŦǊƻƳ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ ό5ȅƭŀƴ aƻƻǊŜύ. 

 
Production had its difficulties and in 1907 the Cambridge Evening News recorded an alarming 
explosiƻƴ ŀǘ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ {ŀȄƻƴ /ŜƳŜƴǘ /ƻΦΩs works. An explosion in the boiler room hurled masses of iron 
and brickwork at least 50 yardsΩ. Fortunately, there were no fatalities. 

The company was stated as exhibiting mosaic cement of excellent appearanceΩ and sections of 
reinforced cement at the JapanBritain Exhibition of 1910.  However, productivity actually 
decreased in the years 1907, 1913 and 1924 to 1,000 tons per week, indicating production 
difficulties. With the establishment of the newer, more advanced and cheaper to operate Norman 
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Works, the Saxon Works was put to secondary use to make up the overall (Saxon and Norman) 
tonnage allowed in the operating license. The works was formally closed in 1928, and in its final 
years it operated at less than 40% capacity. Nonetheless, it can be seen from Figure 9 above that 
the Saxon Works was a substantial construction with a particularly impressive kiln stack.  

The works had a reliable rail connection, which fed off ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ /ŀƳōǊƛŘƎŜ ǘƻ bŜǿƳŀǊƪŜǘBury St 
9ŘƳǳƴŘǎ ƭƛƴŜ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǇŀǎǎŜŘ ƴƻǊǘƘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ /ƻƳƳƻƴ ŀƴŘ replaced the original Budleigh 
Close/Marmora/Greville Road alignment. (A full copy of a contemporary description of the Saxon 
Works from The Engineer is included as Annexe One.)   
 

 
Figure 10  The Saxon Works (adapted from Dylan Moore) 

 

The Atlas Artificial Stone Company 
 
The Atlas Works was another of A C 5ŀǾƛǎΩs enterprises. Two versions of its establishment have been 
found: one, that the successful opening of the Meldreth branch of the Atlas Works, on the site of the 
Meldreth Lime and Cement Works, led to the opening of the Saxon Works and the Cambridge Atlas 
Works, and later the Norman Works; second, that the Cambridge branch was founded in 1902, though 
the actual date of the start of production is unsure; the works do not feature on the 1903 map. The 
company was founded with A C 5ŀǾƛǎΩs brother, F W Davis, with a focus on the development of new 
uses for cement; The Engineer article states that the works produced material from by-products from 
the cement produced at the Saxon and Norman: 
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a great variety of artificial stonework is manufactured by treating a mixture of granite chips and 

ŎŜƳŜƴǘ ōȅ ƳŜŀƴǎ ƻŦ ƘȅŘǊŀǳƭƛŎ ǇǊŜǎǎǳǊŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ŎƘƛŜŦ ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ Χ ǿŜǊŜ ǇŀǾƛƴƎ ōƭƻŎƪǎ ŀƴŘ ǎǘŀƛǊŎŀǎŜǎΣ ōǳǘ Χ 

a good many other things were made, and that the output from these works was regular and 

considerable. (The Engineer, 20 March 20 1908). 
 
In 1928 the company concentrated operations in Meldreth. By 1929 the Meldreth Works was 
producing asbestos, and in the 1940s it went on to produce asbestos for air-raid shelters and repair of 
war damage. The company was eventually sold to Eternit, a Belgian company, which continued 
production. In 2005 Eternit merged with Marley.     
 

 
Figure 11  Atlas at the 

Meldreth Works (Local 

History of Meldreth) 

 
Figure 12  The site of the bridge from the Saxon to 

the Atlas works, Cherry Hinton Brook at Sainsbury's 

car park. Note brick mountings (author). 

 
As an indication of the often convoluted nature of industrial development in the region, the Meldreth 
Portland Cement and Brick Company was acquired by the Meldreth Cement and Coprolite Syndicate in 
1892, which then came to be operated by the British Saxon Cement Company in 1913, the Davis 
connection assumedly still being strong. The Cherry Hinton Brook works seemingly continued more as 
a depot than a works.  
 
Meldreth History has the story of one of several Puffing BilliesΩ, in this case a 0-4-0 Simplex shunter. It 
was built in Bedford in 1920 for BPCM (see below) and, though expensive to operate, was sold to the 
Atlas Works in 1928 and used at Meldreth to transport goods from the station to the works. Around 
1929 it was sold back to BPCM and used at the Saxon Works, and later at the Norman Works where it 
shunted coal wagons.     
 
Concerning the site in Romsey, an auction notice published by Bidwell & Sons in 1968 states that Atlas, 
with a view to consolidate their various local activities on an extensive site at Meldreth which the firm 
already operatesΩ is putting the four-acre site put up for auction. Its zoned land use is stated as 
industrialΩ, and its rateable value as £1,700 pa. The auction notice contains an aerial photograph of 
the site which shows it as only half used ς the southern part is overgrown (Figure 21 below shows the 
site as fully used in 1928). There was a collection of one-storey sheds (office block, drying shed, press 
house, etc), and a two-ƘƻǳǎŜ ǘŜǊǊŀŎŜ ŦǊƻƴǘƛƴƎ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƭŜΦ  ¢ƘŜ 
photograph also shows the Army Reserve centre (on the site of the old Saxon works) as it then was ς a 
series of one-storey huts, with a range of what may have been quite pleasant semi-detached houses 
lying alongside the brook (the 1967 map in Figure 34 below clearly shows the range).   
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¢ƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ ǎǳǇŜǊƳŀǊƪŜǘΦ Iƻǿ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŘ ǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƘŜ ȊƻƴƛƴƎ ƻŦ 
the site changed from industrialΩ to commercialΩ would be an interesting story, though planning 
policy in the late 1960s/early 1970s was moving away from industrial development in such a 
residential area.  Evidence of the old rail link to the Saxon Works on the east side of Cherry Hinton 
Brook is still discernable.  
 
The Norman Portland Cement Company 
 
The Norman Works, established by A.C. Davis and the Keeble brothers under the Norman Portland 
Cement Co., was registered in 1903, cost £69,000 to construct, and commenced production in 1904. 
Although described as a subsidiary of the Saxon Works, it was far superior in innovation technology 
and capacity.  As Dylan Moore describes it:  

it represented an aggressive move in the industry, setting up a rotary plant large by the standards of the 

day, from scratch. It was among the first British plants to be built exclusively with rotary kilnsΧΦ It was 

certainly the first British rotary plant designed specifically to use the Dry Process ς a further confident 

gamble. The forty or so rotary kilns installed prior to these were all wet process, although in the USA (the) 

dry process was at the time prevalent. It commenced with five dry process rotary kilns. Marl was crushed 

by roll-crusher, then dried by a pair of rotary driers heated by kiln exhaust gases. The dried marl was 

ground by seven Griffin mills, then blended in an elaborate elevator-fed re-circulating mixer before 

storage in a silo of 700 ton capacity. (http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/cement_kiln_norman.html) 

 

 
Figure 13   ! 1946 aerial photo of the Norman Works, taken from the west. Although several 
decades after its opening, much of the building must be as it was in 1904. Note the marl pit 

on the left (towards Coldham's Lane) and the hay ricks on the land beyond the railway - which 
was later to be excavated. (http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/cement_kiln_norman.html) 

 
The Norman Works evidently represented a great enthusiasm in development in the cement 
production industry. Demand was expanding, particularly for high-grade and quickly-produced 
cement, and the Saxon Works, only three years old, was not meeting this demand. The significance of 
this must be the boom in construction ς in industrial, commercial, residential and in corporation/ 
institutional/community-based uses throughout the UK, and the Norman Works was both a reflection 
and a response to this. The local newspaper, presumably the Cambridge Daily News, stated that the 
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Norman Works was one of the largest and most modern cement works in EnglandΩ under construction 
in the UK. Krupp (of Essen, Germany) supplied most of the machinery.  In 1903 The Engineer stated 
that the company had placed an order with the Bradley Pulveriser Co. of London for 19 Griffin mills, to 
be installed at the works (Engineer, 15/5/1903).   
 

 
Figure 14  Sketch of the layout of the Norman Works (with west to the left), 

taken from The Engineer, March 1908 

 

 
Figure 15  Norman Works in the 1900s, seen from 

the south across the railway (CC) 

 

 
Figure 16  Norman Works. Coal feeds and 

clinker coolers (The Engineer) 

A local reflection of the confidence that the opening of the works engendered may be seen in the 
naming of Norman Terrace, situated at the meeting of Mill Road and Brookfields, though it should be 
noted that the chairman of the company was part of a local building firm. The building of the terrace 
of thirty houses was finalised in 1904, and is of a high standard ς most probably representing the new 
building standards required by law, and requiring quality cement.   
 
Dylan Moore states that the Norman Works, first using five rotary kilns, was innovative in developing 
the use of the dry processΩ which had earlier been introduced at the Saxon Works. At that time the 
dry processΩ was more popular in the USA ς most UK works preferring the wet processΩ.  

Marl was crushed by roll-crusher, then dried by a pair of rotary driers heated by kiln exhaust gases. The 
dried marl was ground by seven Griffin mills, then blended in an elaborate elevator-fed re-circulating 
mixer before storage in a silo of 700 t capacity. It soon became clear that the registered output of 1200 
t/week could be obtained with only three kilns, and (two of the first kilns) were shut down after the 
BPCM takeover. (http://www.cementkilns.co.uk/cement_kiln_norman.html) 

These re-opened briefly in 1919. Moore continues: the plant was then rebuilt as wet process. The wet 
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kiln Χ was subsequently replaced in 1949Ω.  

Average cement production at the Works at height of production, assumedly the late 1970s, is said to 
have been 2,000 tonnes per week, or just over 100,000 tonnes per annum.  
 
National Cement Companies ς BPCM, ACPM, Blue Circle and Lafarge 
 
As Moore states above, the Norman and Saxon companies were taken over by BPCM, which acquired 
the works in 1911/12. BPCM was itself a subsidiary of APCM.  
 
ACPM was founded in 1900 through the merger of the major British cement producers with the 
difficult intention of bringing all Portland cement producers together into one commercial entity. 
Initially holding about 60% of national manufacturing capacity, this holding decreased to around 35% 
by 1910, after the closure of those plants that were considered inefficient. It seems that the Saxon, 
and particularly the Norman, works were not then considered inefficient. ACPM/BPCM merged at the 
end of the First World War, becoming just APCM. The 1920s slump affected production, yet the 
industry recovered ŀƴŘ !t/aΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΣ ǿƛǘƘ  A C Davis as director of all works, was 
modernised.  
 
Demand for cement in the Second World War, particularly for coastal defences and air raid shelters, 
considerably increased production and, with the post-war Labour government, there were proposals 
for nationalisation. This was avoided by APCM, and post-war reconstruction and 1950s public sector 
schemes led to a boom in the industry.  
 
Through the 1960s APCM expanded, buying up related businesses such as sand and gravel extraction, 
and in 1978 it became Blue Circle Industries. It was also in this period that the company commenced 
construction of the giant Northfleet Works on the Thames in Kent, which facilitated the closure of less 
economic works.  
 
After problems with fuel supply (oil and coal) in the 1970s, which led to some closures, the 1980s saw 
the company expand, with an emphasis on diversification into overseas markets, particularly in the 
USA. In the UK economic plants were modernised, and those not so economic were closed. It can be 
taken that the Norman Works fitted into this latter category, closing in 1984. The boom-and-bust 
nature of the construction industry led to record profits in the late 1980s and a sharp decline in the 
early 1990s. Out of the twenty works Blue Circle operated in the early 1970s, only eleven remained by 
the mid-1990s.  
 
Blue Circle continued to expand internationally, but in 2000 the French company Lafarge launched a 
hostile take-over bid which, though initially resisted, led in 2001 to Blue Circle becoming part of 
Lafarge, reportedly the largest cement producer in the world.   

 

The Brookfields Area in 1902/1906 

The 1903 Ordnance Survey map (Figure 17 below) shows the new Saxon Works in the northeast 
corner. The result of coprolite diggings (pits) can be seen running along the west side of Cherry Hinton 
Brook, though no actual workings are indicated. The earlier tramway running south to Brookfields/ 
Mill Road has been dismantled and there is now only a path. The Romsey Town Lime and Cement 
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Works, by now about 10 years old, is shown, next to the Hospital (infectious diseases) which had been 
labelled a sanatorium in the 1886 map. The map shows a thorough mix of uses: industry, allotments, 
agriculture, the hospital, and a range of housing types from suburban villas to in-fill terraced housing. 
Natal Road has been laid out, and Burnside has become a street with several houses. There are, 
though, still many undeveloped gaps in the all the streets. Apart from the brook running south to 
north, there is also a large ditch or drain. The old Budleigh Close/Marmora/Greville Road rail 
alignment appears to be still in operation.      

A description of the area by Eglantyne Jebb was published in 1906 and vividly evokes the local 
atmosphere:  
 

The cement works of the Atlas and Saxon companies at Romsey Town employ about 220 men and boys; 
with the other firms probably about 250 to 300 hands are engaged in this branch of trade, which for the 
most part is regular, not seasonal, and consists of unskilled labour ΧΧΦ of brickmakers there must be also 
a large number, brick works of six firms being established in the neighbourhood of Newmarket Road and 
Coldham Lane. ΧΦ. 
 
As you pass along the street (taken to be Mill Road) the shops become fewer and smaller, and down the 
slope you come into a region of quite a different character: a greyish region where a whizzing sound 
disturbs the heavy atmosphere. There are great lime and cement works on your left, and where the 
houses end abruptly at the foot of the hill you look across a bare field to an irregular stack of buildings 
piled high with tall chimneys ς more cement works. The whole place seems enmeshed in railway lines, 
and the puffing of trains and screaming of engines break in upon the vibrating hum of the works. The 
brook is still there; a rather dirty ditch with tins and fragments of pottery amongst its weeds, and with a 
large notice on its bank prohibiting rubbish from being thrown in. The houses near it are of course called 
Brook Terrace and Brookfield Cottages; the houses along its edge Brookside, the post office, Brookfields, 
and one of the inns Brookfield House.  And beyond the ditch the footpath still leads up the hill, but it is 
confined now between two high black palisades. (Cambridge: A Social Study  (1906)) 

 

 
Figure 17  1903 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields 

area (Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd) 
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The Brookfields Area in 1925/ 1927 

Looking at the 1925 (Figure 18) and 1927 (Figure 19) maps below, it can be seen that there has been 
considerable development since the 1903 map (Figure 17 above). The old Marmora Road/Greville 
Road/Charles Street railway has been closed down and dismantled, and the new railway to the north 
has been buildΣ ǇŀǎǎƛƴƎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ /ƻƳƳƻƴΦ Lǘ Ƙŀǎ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ōƻǘƘ ǘƘŜ {ŀȄƻƴ ŀƴŘ 
Norman works. Whether the realignment was encouraged by the Saxon/Davis interests to give 
improved rail access to that works is possible though improbable, especially considering its declining 
output in relation to the Norman Works.  

 

 
Figure 18  1925 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields area (Ordnance 

Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd). 
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Figure 19  1927 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields area 

(Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd). 

 

 
Figure 20  alignment of the old railway, passing along 

Marmora Road (author) 

Figure 20 above shows part of the alignment of the old railway from the foot/cycle path running from 
Montreal Road to Hobart Road and then on to Marmora Road.  On the right are the Victorian / 
Edwardian terraces of Madras, Suez, Cyprus and Malta Roads; on the left are the 1930s houses of 
Hobart and Suez Roads that were not there at the time the railway was in operation. The railway must 
have left sufficient space on the right for access to the houses.   
 
In the 1925 map (Figure 18 above) the Norman Cement Works is shown with its excavation ( wash 
ƳƛƭƭΩύ pit lying to its north, between it and /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ ¢ƘŜ {ŀȄƻƴ ²orks has expanded its pits to 
the south and east; the island in what is now the Army Reserve lake is evident.  
 
The Saxon Works has tram links with the Atlas Works which lies to the west across Cherry Hinton 
Brook ς in this map it is labelled the Atlas Concrete Works.  
 
The Romsey Town Lime and Cement Works is now labelled as the Cam Foundry and Iron Works 
όƎŜƴŜǊŀƭƭȅ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ aŀŎƪƛƴǘƻǎƘΩǎύ, indicating a perhaps necessary change of use due to its inability to 
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compete with the two new works.  The streets have become more built-up; Norman Terrace 
mentioned above has been built facing the hospital, and some of the housing along the nascent 
Coleridge Road is there, east of what will later become Greville Road.  
 
Other features of interest on the 1925 map are the allotment gardensΩ lying beside Cherry Hinton 
Brook south of the Atlas Works, with a swampy area at its south. These have since been built upon, 
with the exception of the small park/playground, and Brooks Road now passes along their west side. 
The depression left by the coprolite works shown on the 1886 map remains, lying in open ground to 
the northeast of the Isolation Hospital.  Also, some buildings are shown on the farm land across the 
brook from Burnside accessed by a bridge. Keith Lagdon, long-time resident of Brookfields, states that 
this was a small agricultural holding with poultry and the land was later excavated for the Norman 
Works.  
 
The aerial photograph of the area in 1928, taken looking east (Figure 21), is revealing. 
 

 
Figure 21  Aerial photo of the area, 1928 (CUCAP, Dept of Geography, 

University of Cambridge 
(http://www.britainfromabove.org.uk/image/epw025477) 

In the immediate foreground is the Atlas Works, surrounded on the south and west by allotments. The 
use of the works as a depot can be seen by its numerous outbuildings and by the lack of chimneys; the 
ǿƻǊƪǎ ƻǇŜƴǎ ƻƴǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ǿƘƛŎƘ Ǌǳƴǎ Ŝŀǎǘ ǘƻǿŀǊŘǎ /ƘŜǊǊȅ IƛƴǘƻƴΦ .ŜȅƻƴŘ !ǘƭŀǎ ƭƛŜǎ ǘƘŜ 
alignment of Cherry Hinton Brook (running south to north) and beyond that is the Saxon Works, with a 
small plume of smoke rising from its northernmost chimney. Its inundated excavation pit lies to its 
south, with the island clearly visible. A further un-inundated pit lies beyond the railway. Then there is 
an open field, and past that is the Norman Works, with long plumes emanating from at least two of its 
ŎƘƛƳƴŜȅǎ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ƛǘǎ ǉǳŀǊǊƛŜŘ Ǉƛǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŜȄǘŜƴŘǎ ƴƻǊǘƘ ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ ¢ƻ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƭƛŜ ƻǇŜƴ ŦƛŜƭŘǎΣ 
with the alignment of the disused railway cutting across east to west.  There is no evidence of any 
airport expansion south ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ, as this was not built until the late 1930s. 
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Figure 22  the Saxon Works in 1928 

(http://www.britainfromabove.org.uk/image/epw025457) 

 

Figure 22 above was taken from the southeast on the same flight as Figure 21, in 1928. The Saxon 
Works can be seen occupying a triangle between the inundated pit, the railway and Cherry Hinton 
Brook. Beyond the brook lies the Atlas Works, packed tight with buildings and sheds around the 
central pool that can be seen in the 1925 map (Figure 18). The railway slices across from southeast to 
northwestΣ ŎǊƻǎǎƛƴƎ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ ! ƭƛƴe of wagons can be seen on the sidings.  
 
!ǊƻǳƴŘ ōƻǘƘ ǿƻǊƪǎ ƭƛŜ ŀƭƭƻǘƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǇŜƴ ŦƛŜƭŘǎΣ ǿƛǘƘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ /ƻƳƳƻƴ ōŜȅƻƴŘΦ ¢ƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ŀ small 
wood lying between the railway and the road where there are now (2015) allotments. The smallpox/ 
isolation hospital can be seen in the middle distance on a minor road ǘƘŀǘ ƭŜŀŘǎ ƻŦŦ ŦǊƻƳ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ 
Lane.  
 
Local Employment in the Cement Industry 
 
As the works operated mainly in the early 20th century, and considering both transport and 
accommodation costs, it is likely that the great majority of the workforce for the cement and artificial 
stone works lived locally. Research into the housing of the workforce was undertaken at the Archives 
ƛƴ {ƘƛǊŜ Iŀƭƭ ŀƴŘ ŦƻŎǳǎǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ {ǇŀƭŘƛƴƎΩǎ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊƛŜǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƭƛǎǘ ŀŘŘǊŜǎǎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ƻŎŎǳpations street by 
street from the late 19th century to the 1970s. A selection from the years 1910, 1920 and 1940 is 
shown in the table below.     
 
¢ƘǊƻǳƎƘƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪǎΩ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ǎǘǊŜŜǘǎ ƻŦ wƻƳǎŜȅ ¢ƻǿƴ ǿŜǊŜ ƭŀǊƎŜƭȅ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ 
people empƭƻȅŜŘ ƛƴ Ƴŀƴǳŀƭ ǿƻǊƪΦ aƻǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ƛƴ {ǇŀƭŘƛƴƎΩǎ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊƛŜǎ ǊŜŦŜǊ ǘƻ ǇŜƻǇƭŜ 
working in a variety of trades, with a seeming majority working on the railways. However, it is tricky to 
clearly identify those who worked for the Norman and Saxon works and the Atlas Artificial Stone 
ǿƻǊƪǎΦ ²ƘƛƭŜ {ǇŀƭŘƛƴƎΩǎ has direct references to people working in the cementΩ industry, many of the 
workers may be listed more generically as labourersΩ. Similarly, the frequent references to 
stonemasonsΩ may describe those working at Atlas or those working as masons in the building trade 
(cw = cement worker; cl = cement labourer; ce = cement employee).4 
 

                                                           
4
 W P Spalding, Cambridge Street and General Directory (1910, 1919/20, 1939/40), available in CA and CC. 
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Road 1910 1920 1940 

Brookfields 6 (Montreal Terrace) ς William 
Chapman (cw) 
1 (Brookfield Cottages) ς Henry 
Newman (brick maker) 
2 (Brookfield Cottages) ς Alfred 
Newman (brick maker) 
3 (Brook Terrace) ς E. Newman 
(cw) 
6 (Brook Terrace) ς J. Cross (cw) 
8 (Brookside) ς William Stearn (cw) 

5 (Montreal Terrace) John Newman (cw) 
9 (Brookfield Cottages) ς Henry Newman 
(brick maker) 
11 (Brookfield Cottages) ς Alfred Newman 
(brick maker) 
23 (Brook Terrace) ς Archibald Newman (cw) 
45 (Monmouth Terrace) ς Albert Shipp (cl) 
51 (Monmouth Terrace) ς Levi Coe (cw) 
55 (Monmouth Terrace) ς Walter Edwards 
(cw) 
66 (Monmouth Terrace) ς E. Salmon (cw) 

9 (Brookfield Cottages) ς Henry 
Newman, (brick maker) 
19 (Brook Terrace) ς Fred Wallis 
(ce) 

Brooks   106 ς W. Whitman (brick burner) 
99 ς L. Roper (cw) 

Catharine 144 ς Percy Beaumont (cw) 77 ς Samuel Baggaley (cl)  
87 ς William Smith (cw) 
108 ς Edward Stubbings (cw) 

108 ς Ed Stubbings (cw) 

Cavendish 16 ς William Topham (checker, 
cement works) 

16 ς William Topham (checker, cement 
works) 

 

/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ 
Lane 

187 ς Offices of Saxon Portland 
Cement Co 
+ Arthur Hayes (cw) & Arthur 
Morley (cw) 
230 ς Offices of Atlas Stone Co. 

8 ς John Farrington (cl) 
Henley Road 
3 ς William Aves (cl) 
187 ς British Portland Cement Manufacturers 
(Saxon Branch), manager  A.J. Mellor 
Saxon House ς Arthur Hayes (cw)  
Portland House ς Charles Thurgood (cw)  
230 ς Offices of Atlas Stone Co.  

Henley Road 
1 ς A.J. Pither (brick moulder) 
5 ς H.W. Richmond (brick maker) 
14 ς F. Dover (brick moulder) 
/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ wƻŀŘ 
83 ς C. Stepney (ce) 
147 ς Walter Shipp (cw) 
Saxon House ς A. Hayes (cw) 
Portland House ς Percy Hart 

Cyprus Road 15 ς George Ralph (cl) 
36 ς Ernest Gazely (cw) 
42 ς Stanley Holland (ce) 

11 ς James Dellar (cw)  

Hemingford 72 ς George Duncombe (ce) 
 

56 ς James Webb (engine driver, cement 
works)  
77 ς Percy King (cw)  
95 ς William Smith (ce) 
106 ς James Fitzgerald (foreman, Saxon 
Cement Works) 

56 ς James Webb (engine driver, 
cement works) 
95 ς William Smith (ce) 
 

Hobart 9 ς Coulson (ce) 
11 ς William Flack (ce) 
13 ς Charles Bedford (cl) 
27 ς Herbert Whitehead (cement 
miller) 
33 ς Treathway (cw) 

13 ς Charles Bedford (cl) 10 ς L. C. Webb (cement chemist) 
51 ς G. Chapman (cw) 
159 ς P.H. Bradford (fitter, cement 
works) 

Hope 24 ς William Blee (ce)   

Madras  2 ς William Gilbey (cw)  
13 ς Percy Turpin (cw) 
24 ς Frederick Cornwell (cw) 

24 ς Frederick Cornwell (cw) 

Malta 37 ς George Anderson (cl) 25 ς George Butler (cement worker) 45 ς Alfred Woolnough (ce) 

Marmora 21 ς David Wright (manager, 
Romsey Cement & Lime Works) 

6 ς Ernest Gazely (cement worker)  

Mill Road 223 ς J. Lamb (clerk, cement works) 
267 ς J. Stearn (cw) 
328 ς Baines (cw) 
380 ς Ernest Reed (kiln attendant) 
388 ς George Lloyd (cement miller) 
390 ς Charles Goodwin (cement 
burner) 

[305] ς Offices of Romsey Town Cement and 
Lime Co.  
267 ς William Stearn (cw) 
380 ς James Ray (cw) 
390 ς Charles Goodwin (cement burner) 

267 ς William Stearn (cw)  
307 ς A. Watkins (cw) 
380 ς James Ray (cw) 
A. Macintosh & Sons Ltd, Cam Iron 
Foundry 

Romsey 
Road) 
Romsey 
Terrace 

11 ς Stevenson (foreman, cement 
works) 
 
 
23 ς W. Smith (cw) 

18 ς Albert Allsworth (cw) 
28 ς Edwin Stevenson (foreman, cement 
works) 

18 ς A. Allsworth (cw) 
25 ς W.J. Fitzgerald (foreman, 
cement works) 
28 ς Edwin Stevenson (foreman, 
cement works) 
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Road 1910 1920 1940 

Ross   199 ς Albert Shipp (cw) 

{ǘ tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎ 71 ς Harry Marchant (ce) 
76 ς John Williams (kiln attendant) 

71 ς Harry Marchant (ce)  

Sedgewick  114 ς Albert Brown (cw)  

Seymour  10 ς L.C. Pettit (cw) 
22 ς William Day (engine driver, Atlas Works)  
25 ς John Ruffells (cw) 
35 ς William Peck (cw) 

25 ς John Ruffells (cw) 
35 ς Harry Peck (cw) 
 

Stockwell   34 ς W. Kitchener (foreman cement 
works) 

Suez 2 ς Fred Groom (cement tester) 
4 ς Richardson (cl) 
6 ς James Secker (cl) 
33 ς Bertram Morell (ce) 
? ς Palmer (ce) 

10 ς S. Brown (cl) 
21 ς Job Bendall (cw) 
41 ς William Gladwell (cw) 
43 ς Winthrop Bendall (cw) 
 

59 ς Albert Prime (ce) 
108 ς H.W. Loates (cw) 112 ς 
Claude Kinsey (cw 
123 ς Leonard Woods (stoker, 
cement works) 

Thoday  115 ς A. Clarke (cw) 
118 ς William Allpress (cw) 

 

Vinery 33 ς Charles Pragnell (ce) 25 ς William Minns (cw) 
53 ς William Bell (cw) 
97 ς William Wisbey (cw) 

25 ς William Minns (cw) 
97 ς William Wisbey (cw) 
140 ς Herbert Covill (cw) 

 

There are human interest stories here, such as that of Edwin Stevenson, foreman, who was in No. 11 
Romsey Road in 1910, then moved to No. 28 for 1920 and 1940. A better or bigger house? And the 
case of the Stearns, with J Stearn living at No. 267 Mill Road, replaced by William Stearn by 1920 and 
1940. Was William the son of J, or was he the same William Stearn who lived at No. 8 Brookside in 
1910, making him possibly a brother?   
 
What can readily be seen, however, is the evident lack of a clear promotional path in the cement 
industry. Mr. Stevenson remained a foreman for thirty years, as did William Stearn as a cement worker 
and Henry Newman (Brookfield Cottages) as a brick maker. William Wisbey (Vinery Road) carried on as 
a cement worker for twenty years or more, as did James Ray (Mill Road), and there are many more 
examples. Purkiss dissertation focused on social conditions in Romsey Town in the inter-war period:5 
  

The cement workers were at the far end of Mill Road on the chalky fen edge in the area called Brookfields, 
near the Bury to Newmarket railway line, a district with a certain degree of exclusivityΧ 
 
Cement workers were unskilled and un-ǳƴƛƻƴƛǎŜŘΣ ƭƛƪŜ 5ψ .ψΩs father. 
 

He was only a little man and he used to have to get in the truck with all the slack coal and push the 
slack into the hold that would feed the kilns to make the cement. He used to go home absolutely 
black. Then you used to have to stand him in his little old kitchen with a funny old brown sink. Mother 
used to have the copper on day in, day out and he used to stand and be washed down on top. When 
he was taken into the kitchen, everybody had to get out of the way 

 
The standard of living of the family was well below that of the skilled workers. His wife was a frequent 
customer of the pawnbrokers, took an empty can down to the College kitchens for free soup and 
accepted police boots for the children to wear. She supplemented the family income by fruit picking in the 
summer and constantly scrimped and 'made do' to keep them above the poverty line. Several other 
women in the row of cottages did undergraduates' washing. Working and living conditions were made 
worse by the white dust that blew everywhere. There was nowhere for men to protect their cans of tea 
and sandwiches, so the children had to take these to their fathers before they went to school.  
 
Despite the links between the cement works and the building trade, builders as directors, no attempts 
were made to unionise the workers. 

                                                           
5
 Purkis (1982), ppΦ му мфΦ 
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He never talked about a union. Maybe there was one, but he never mentioned it. 

 
Yet as a man who had been a Wesleyan Sunday School teacher, who voted Labour as far back as his 
daughter could remember, there appears to have been no ideological barrier that would have prevented 
him joining if he had been approached.  
 
Wages were poor and seem to have fluctuated with the prevailing market conditions. The family 
 

knew what poverty was when the depression came 
 
but for a conscientious worker there was job security, and he worked there for forty eight years until 
retirement long after the family had grown up and set up homes of their own. 

 

While it is probable that the great majority of the manual workers at the works lived in the East 
Romsey Town area, information on the 1911 census transcribed by the Trumpington Local History 
Group is revealing. 1911 was shortly after the works had been established, and the data indicates 
that those in more managerial roles lived in more affluent areas.6 
 

Address Name Occupation Origin 

Trinity House, Hills Road 
 

Henry Campion Apthorpe Director Limited Company, Norman Cement Company Cambridge 

Perlethorpe, Hills Road 
 

Henry Turvey Director Sales Manager & Secretary of Portland Cement 
Company 

Ordsall, Notts 

Southacre, Latham Road Frederick Henry Hatch Consulting Mining Engineer London 

 
 
Apart from the more expensive address, the origin of Messrs Hatch and Turvey indicates a wide scope of 
recruitment. This may, of course, also have been true for those living in East Romsey. It is quite likely that 
the founding of the works attracted a workforce from far beyond Cambridge. Mr Hatch has been included as 
there can have been little other demand for a consulting mining engineer than for marl quarrying ς whether 
in East Romsey or at some other site.   

 
 

The Brookfields Area in 1938 
 
The 1938 map below shows some significant developments on what was present in the early to mid-
1920s. It can be suggested that, building on the social reforms of the Edwardian period, and possibly 
reflecting the ƘƻƳŜǎ ŦƻǊ ƘŜǊƻŜǎΩ ƳƻƻŘ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ CƛǊǎǘ ²ƻǊƭŘ ²ŀǊΣ /ŀƳōǊƛŘƎŜ ƘŀŘ ōŜƎǳƴ ǘƻ 
embark upon an expansion which went beyond the bounds of the Victorian and Edwardian period. 
This saw new housing development all around the city, particularly in the south and east, undertaken 
by a mix of the public and private sectors, and underpinning this were the first attempts at 
streamlining the increasing amount of road traffic.   

 

                                                           
6
 http://www.trumpingtonlocalhistorygroup.org/resources_census1911.html: File reference: 

Trumpington_CensusTranscript_1911.pdf 
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Figure 23  1938 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields area (Ordnance 

Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd) 

Hence, in 1938 we can see the beginning of the Cambridge southeast ring roadΩ that ran from 
.ŀōǊŀƘŀƳ wƻŀŘ ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ and gave access to large tracts of land which had been bought up 
by both private developers and the City Council. Substantial areas of previously semi-agricultural land 
were now opened up for development, new estates were planned and the 1930s semiΩ had arrived 
(though alongside Brooks Road ŀƴŘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ many of these houses were terraces). The map 
shows how housing will be developed on these new sites, the vagueness of the sketch taken as 
indicative, not actual, development: Radegund, Birdwood, Perne, Coleridge, Greville (where the then 
Mayor of Cambridge, Alderman Briggs, had his house built (No 1, Greville Rd)), and Hobart in the 
south; Brooks RoadΣ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ wƻǎǎ {ǘǊŜŜǘ ŀƴŘ .ǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ ŀƴŘ CŀƛǊŦŀȄ ǊƻŀŘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘΦ Similar 
development took place around Cherry Hinton, with the Orchard Estate being notable: a discrete 
layout of quite spacious houses in close proximity to the Norman Works. 
 
Once the ring roadΩ alignment had been realised, the cement works and Burnside would effectively be 
somewhat cut off from Romsey Town of which they had previously been a continuation. The Norman, 
Saxon and Atlas Works were also there, little different from how they had been in the late 1920s ς 
indeed, it is surprising that no new excavation for the Norman Works is shown. The Romsey Town 
Lime and Cement/Cam Foundry and Iron Works was there too, identified as foundryΩ, cement 
production having ended in 1915.   
 
1938 was the year that Cambridge Airport commenced operations, with the effect that subsequently 
ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ ƻǇŜƴ ƭŀƴŘ ƭȅƛƴƎ ƴƻǊǘƘ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ǿŀǎ ǊŜǎŜǊǾŜŘΩΦ    
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The Brookfields Area in 1950 
 

 
Figure 24  1950 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields area (Ordnance 

Survey/AGB Environmental Ltd) 

In the immediate post war period there was little change in the actual form of industry ς 
modernisation would come later ς and the Saxon and Norman works appear to have remained on the 
map (Figure 24) much the same as they had been before. The Atlas Works was still there, though by 
the 1950s used more as a depot than for any production. What is noticeable about the factories is that 
excavation around the Saxon Works (what is now the Army Reserve lake) appears to have reached its 
full extent. Indeed, this was also the case in the 1925 map, and the works was officially closed down in 
1928, thereafter being used more for storage than any productive use. Excavation around the Norman 
Works, though, had expanded considerably; all the land lying south of CoƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ǘƻǿŀǊŘǎ ǘƘŜ 
Saxon Works has been quarried (noted as marl pitΩ); only the Army Reserve quarry is inundated. 
There has been some additional building at both the Norman and Saxon works ς to the east of the 
Norman, and to the west, alongside the brook, of the Saxon. However, the discontinuation of rail links 
to the Saxon and Atlas Works seems to speak for their declining consequence, both of which have 
more or less become non-productive. The old Romsey Town Lime and Cement Works is now only 
noted as foundryΩ (slightly off-map). 
 
The actual layout of the new hoǳǎƛƴƎ ŀƭƻƴƎ tŜǊƴŜ ŀƴŘ .Ǌƻƻƪǎ ǊƻŀŘǎΣ ŀƴŘ ŀƭƻƴƎ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ (only 
indicated in 1938) is now shown, as is Montreal Square and the new housing around Nuttings Road. 
The Isolation Hospital is now the Brookfields Hospital, the Burnside allotments have evidently been 
laid out, and iǘ ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ŎƭŜŀǊ ǘƘŀǘ aŀǊǎƘŀƭƭΩǎ ŀƛǊǇƻǊǘ Ƙŀǎ ƴƻǘ yet ŜȄǇŀƴŘŜŘ ǎƻǳǘƘ ǘƻǿŀǊŘǎ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ 
Lane.  There is a new building (possibly a tram depot), lying alongside the Tins footpath where it meets 
Brookfields Burnside, accessed by the concrete bridge which presently lies next to the new Tins 
bridge. It should, however, be appreciated that Ordnance Survey maps are based on what existed a 
year or more prior to their publication. 
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Reconstruction of the Norman Works 
 
In 1949 the Norman Works was comprehensively rebuilt ς the old 1900 buildings being replaced by 
ǿƘŀǘ ōŀǎƛŎŀƭƭȅ ǿŀǎ ŀ ǾŜǊȅ ƭŀǊƎŜ ǎƘŜŘΣ ǘƻ ǘŀƪŜ ƴŜǿ ƳŀŎƘƛƴŜǊȅΦ  ¢ƘŜ ΨǿŜǘΩ ƪƛƭƴ, which superseded the 
ŜŀǊƭƛŜǊ ΨŘǊȅΩ ƪƛƭƴ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ .t/a ǘŀƪŜƻǾŜǊ, was replaced.  As Dylan Moore states, this was a scaled-
down version of the Shoreham kilns (then considered as state-of-the-art by owners Blue Circle), and 
was the first in Britain to be fitted from the start with a Fuller grate cooler, supplied under license by 
Vickers ArmstrongΩ. 
 

 
Figure 25  Sketch of the old Norman Works 

layout 1900s (Dylan Moore) 

 
Figure 26  Sketch of the new Norman Works 

layout 1949 (Dylan Moore) 

 

 
Figure 27  Aerial photo of the new Norman Works, 

undated though probably late 1950s (CUCAP, Dept of 
Geography, University of Cambridge) 

 
Figure 28  1948 view over Cambridge with the Norman 

Works in the middle distance 
(http://www.britainfromabove.org.uk/image/eaw014113) 

 

The aerial photograph  in Figure 27, taken from the east looking towards Romsey Town, shows clearly 
the reconstructed Norman Works. Gone is the complex of Edwardian buildings, replaced by the new 
long shed, the single new chimney at the west end, and the large silos at the east end. The new 
building was not what could be considered an architectural improvement. The original excavation pit 
ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪǎΩ ƛƳƳŜŘƛŀǘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘ ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ǘƻ be disused as it has become overgrown, however the far 
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pit, running alongside the railway towards the Saxon Works (which is out of the picture), is evident, as 
is the newer pit in the immediate foreground in which a digger can be seen at work. This pit is not 
shown on the 1950 O/S map. The road access to the works is shown running east of the site and 
ōŜƴŘƛƴƎ ƴƻǊǘƘ ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ  
 
The alignment of the disused railway is clear, running to the south of Burnside and across Perne Road 
and Coleridge Road. The 1930s housing (Radegund, Birdwood, Perne, Coleridge, Greville, Hobart, etc.) 
is evident, and the land between the new railway and Cherry Hinton Brook, which would later be 
excavated, is still fields.  
 
Figure 28 is a photograph taken in 1948, looking east over the city. tŀǊƪŜǊΩǎ tƛŜŎŜ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ǎŜŜƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 
near right foreground, with the line of Mill Road extending east. The railway can be seen as a black 
line crossing from south to north. Beyond the mass of housing an open white-ish area can be seen 
amongst the fields, with a smoking chimney. This is the Norman Works and its pits. The line of the old 
railway is still discernible to the right (south) of the works.  To the left (north) is the openness of 
/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ /ƻƳƳƻƴΣ ǿƛǘƘ ŀƴ ŀǊŜŀ ƻŦ ǳƴƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ŎƭŜŀǊŀƴŎŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘǊŜƳŜ ƭŜŦǘΦ    
 
Below are three photographs illustrating the appearance of the works around this time. Figure 32 
shows the newly installed kiln C1, which was the major kiln in the works, built by Vickers Armstrong 
and operating from 1949 to 1984.  
 

 
Figure 29  ¢he new Norman Works seen from 

/ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ όacross the marl pit lying between it 
and the Saxon Works) (CC) 

 
Figure 30  ¢he new Norman Works seen in the  

distance from the as yet unfinished Barnwell  
Road, taken as being in the early 1960s

7
 

 
Figure 31  ±iew of the wash mill (a mechanism  
to wash marl prior to processing it) area and the  

new Norman Works (CC) 

 

 
Figure 32  Kiln C1 (see Figure 25 above) after 
installation in 1949 (Norman Collection / Dylan 

Moore) 

 

                                                           
7
 aƛƪŜ tŜǘǘȅΣ aŜƳƻǊȅ [ŀƴŜ /ŀƳōǊƛŘƎŜΩΣ Cambridge News, 2002. 
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While the new Norman Works was, as Dylan Moore states, now (a) relatively small plant Χ buoyed up 
by low maintenance costs on its simple processΩ, production increased right up to the point of its 
closure, as can be seen in Figure 33 below.  
 

 
Figure 33  Norman Works production, approximate tonnes 

per year (Dylan Moore) 

 

A description of the operation of the reconstructed Norman Works is given in Appendix B ς an account 
by one Pam Carr of an outing by the Greater London Industrial Archaeology Society to the Works in 
August 1980, when it was owned and operated by Blue Circle.  
 
 

Development of the Ring Road, New Residential Areas, and the Closing-down of the 
Cement Works 
 
Land Use Planning Issues  
 
Research undertaken in the Cambridge City Council Planning Department cast a light upon the history 
of the area from a planning perspective.   
 
Cambridge Planning Proposals (1950)8 
 
The Town and Country Planning Act of 1947 required all local authorities, in this case Cambridge 
County Council (the borough in those days not having responsibility for town planning), to prepare 
comprehensive development plans for the area under their jurisdiction Χindicating the manner in 
which a local planning authority proposes that land in their area should be usedΩ. The procedure first 
required analysis of the existing conditions before any forecasts and proposals could be made 
concerning future development. The County Council commissioned Sir William Holford with Henry 
Myles Wright to draft a county development plan.   
 
¢ƘŜ ŦƻŎǳǎ ƻŦ IƻƭŦƻǊŘΩǎ ǿƻǊƪ ǿŀǎ on movement of traffic around the city, and there was little attention 
to the cement works area: 

¶ larger factories are to be encouraged to develop around Barnwell (off Cromwell Road), as smoke 
and fumes can blow clear of the townΩ; 

¶ concerning the chalk pits area, its future use was zoned for War DepartmentΩ (assumedly referring 
to what is now the Army Reserve centre), with the rest being undeterminedΩ. 

                                                           
8
 W Holford and H Myles Wright, Cambridge Planning Proposals (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1950). 
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The final Development Plan was submitted to government in 1952.   
 
County Development Plan, Report & Written Analysis. Part I (1952) 
 
This Report and Analysis by the county Planning Department ŀŎǘǎ ǇŀǊǘƛŀƭƭȅ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǿǊƛǘǘŜƴΩ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 
the Development Plan: explaining, justifying and elaborating on the plan as shown on a map.   
 
Relevant to the cement works is:  

¶ As concerns commercial minerals, the area around Brookfields has resources which are of a very 
good quality and are a very important economic asset; 

¶ The British Portland Cement site at Cherry Hinton (Norman Works) has recently been rebuilt, 
demonstrating confidence in future production;  

¶ If demand increases further areas may be requiredΩ for quarrying, but no land is allocated in the 
plan as current reserves are deemed sufficient. 

 
(Mineral Planning Permission was granted in 1951 (CB. 50.226), after a public enquiry. The quarries 
were classified as dormant by 1998.) 
 
A Guide to the Cambridge Plan (1956) 
 
By the mid-1950s, in conformity with the Town and Country Planning Act, the changing social, 
economic and physical conditions necessitated a review of the development plan leading, in effect, to 
a second generation. With each iteration, the plans became wider in scope and the evident need to 
better engage the public in the process was acknowledged.  A digestible summary of the 1956 Plan was 
written by Derek Senior of the County Planning Department.  
 
Though the planning department had prepared several land-use plans for parts of the borough in the 
1920s and 30s, the 1956 Plan appears to be the first one to refer specifically to the land affected by the 
cement works. Essentially, the land was divided into two zones: the north ς ŦǊƻƳ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ǘƻ 
the railway , and the south ς from the railway to Cherry Hinton Brook. The former was zoned for 
continued mineral workings and industryΩ, and the latter for proposed Χ mineral workings and 
industryΩ, acknowledged as probably not taking place until the 1970s. 
 
The implication is that the Norman Works was considered as having a viable future, and could provide 
valued employment, should it be able to expand its quarrying activities. 
  
Quarry expansion points to an issue that was bound to arise as more housing was developed in the 
area: conflicting land uses. When the Saxon and Norman works were established in the 1900s there 
were few residential uses in direct proximity. However, this changed throughout the early part of the 
20th century as Romsey Town expanded east, Cherry Hinton expanded west, and the lands lying north 
of Cherry Hinton Road were filled in.  Complaints from neighbouring residential areas about dust and 
noise pollution from the Norman Works were to mount particularly in the second half of the century.           
 
Report on the First Review of the Town Map for Cambridge (1961) 
 
Prepared by the County Planning Department, this planning review contains the Written StatementΩ, 
which acts as a policy, that the Council will only approve proposals for new industrial development 
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within the city that would employ five or less personnel. Existing industries would be permitted only 
moderate expansion. The implication is that the Council was seeking to promote more small-scale 
workshopΩ-type industry that would supposedly be less polluting. It could be assumed that this would 
encourage larger industries to locate outside of the city boundary.   
The review contains some interesting statistics under Estimates of Insured EmployeesΩ: 
 
Employed in quarrying & mineral products: 

1951 1957 1959 

377 417 369 

 
These figures essentially describe the workforce employed in the Norman, Saxon and Atlas works, the 
latter two being used as depots and for storage and distribution. The figures might also include Cherry 
Hinton Pit, which was worked until the 1980s, and the quarry that is now Milton Country Park. 
 
The review also gives an indication of the extent of mineral workings: 
 
Mineral workings: area in acres: 

1949 1959 1971 

101 107 an extra 69 

 
The extra 69 acres estimated for 1971 probably refers to quarrying expansion on the land between the 
railway and Cherry Hinton Brook.  
 
The Land Use Analysis part of the 1961 review focused particularly on the appraisal of land use issues. 
It noted/confirmed that: 

¶ the land north and south of the railway alignment is zoned as mineral/chalkΩ; 

¶ in 1949 the Norman Works required 61.6 acres, in 1952 it required 74.1 and in 1959 66.7 acres;  

¶ quarried land south of the railway in 1949 consisted of 0 acres, and in 1952 and 1959 of 63 
acres; 

¶ the Limekiln Road (Cherry Hinton) East quarry consisted in 1949, 1952 and 1959 of 20.9 acres; 

¶ the Limekiln Road (Cherry Hinton) West quarry in 1949 consisted of 10.9 acres, then in 1952 of 
19.9 acres, then in 1959 of a reduced 14.4 acres.  

 
An implication of this may be that an end to marl extraction, and cement production, was being 
recognised as probably coming to an end. However, provisions would be needed to ensure its short, 
and maybe medium, term production was ensured.  
 

The Brookfields Area in 1967 
 
By the time the map in Figure 34 (below) was produced, the pattern of contemporary urban 
development in east Romsey Town had been well established.  The ring road is integral to the fabric of 
the area, the 1930s housing has become central to the urban pattern, and the only area yet to be 
developed was the Tiverton Way estate behind the 1930s housing along Perne Road (where it 
effectively halved the Burnside allotments), and the block of flats next to the Atlas site.  
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The Romsey Town Lime and Cement Works/foundry has gone, replaced by the Magnet bowling alley 
and the Priory Motors garage. Seymour Street is in place, and there has been housing in-fill on the site 
of the old coprolite pit east of the Brookfields Hospital.  The disused railway alignment is being in-
filled, by such as the Scout centre on Perne Road and the Girl Guides hut.  There is an islandΩ at the 
junction of Brookfields and the ring road. The Saxon Works has disappeared, replaced by the 
Territorial & Auxiliary Volunteer Reserve Centre, with some associated housing. However, as can be 
seen from Figure 35 below (1973), the Atlas site has not yet been cleared.  

 

 
Figure 34  1967 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields 

area (Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd) 

Excavation for the Norman Works has expanded onto the land south of the railway, and what had 
previously been farm land across the brook from Burnside (farmed, according to Keith Lagdon, by Bob 
Dellar, who raised pigs, and poultry and grew sugar beet) is now being quarried ς resulting in the 
disappearance of the series of buildings that had been there, though the footbridge remains. Marl 
from this quarry was transported over the Tins and the railway to the Works by a conveyor just east of 
the footbridge over the railway (see Figure 35 below). 
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Figure 35  Aerial view of the Atlas Works and the early layout of the Army Reserve 

centre όǘŀƪŜƴ ŦǊƻƳ .ƛŘǿŜƭƭΩǎ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ ƻŦ ŀǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ the Atlas site, 1968, supplied by Alan 
Brigham)  

 
Figure 35 above shows the Atlas Works ready for auction by Bidwell & Sons in 1968. By this time the 
buildings of the works were considerably reduced from their earlier state, and almost half the land 
(the southern part) appears to be unused and overgrown. Most of the land is now (2015) occupied by 
{ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ ǎǳǇŜǊƳŀǊƪŜǘ, with a block of affordable housingΩ on the overgrown land. One or two 
houses fronting on ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ όǇǊŜǎǳƳŀōƭȅ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭƭȅ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ²ƻǊƪǎύ ŀǊŜ ŜȄŜƳǇǘ 
from the auction, and stand where the present supermarket fuel station is situated. Across Cherry 
Hinton Brook lies the Army Reserve centre on the site of the Saxon Works. This was the earlier, low-
rise, form of the base. It was rebuilt, without the row of houses alongside the brook, in the late 1980s. 
At this time, 1968, there was no Barnwell Road connection to the Newmarket Road.  
 
 

The Brookfields Area in 1973 
 

 
Figure 36  1973 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields area 

(Ordnance Survey/AGB Environmental Ltd). 
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By 1973 the extent of the continued quarrying can be seŜƴΦ ¢ƘŜ ƳƛŘŘƭŜΩ Ǉƛǘ όƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ chalk pitΩ) has 
grown to take up about half of its eventual size. The pit is in operation, so it is not inundated, and the 
conveyor to the Norman Works can be clearly seen. All four pits lying to the north of the railway are 
shown to be disused and filled-in ς the disposal of general waste in the abandoned pits being 
sanctioned by the authorities, which has consequently led to the siteΩs being defined as contaminated 
land. Only the ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ bƻǊƳŀƴ ǇƛǘΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƭŀȅ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ²ƻǊƪǎ ŀƴŘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ane (and has been 
known as the ǿŀǎƘ ƳƛƭƭΩ ǎƛǘŜ, see Figure 31), was not used for dumping and never became 
contaminated.  
 
The only actual lake is what is now known as the Army Reserve lake, originally being quarried for the 
Saxon Works. It reached its full extent prior to the 1925 Ordnance Survey map, shortly before the 
Works went out of production.   
 
Other changes since 1967 are:  aŀǊǎƘŀƭƭΩǎ Ƙŀǎ ōȅ ƴƻǿ ŜȄǘŜƴŘŜŘ ƛǘ Ǌǳƴǿŀȅ ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ; the Atlas 
site is still undeveloped όƛƴ ŦŀŎǘ ƛǘ ƛǎ ƭŀōŜƭƭŜŘ ǿƻǊƪǎΩύ; ǘƘŜ Ŏƻƴǘƛƴǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ rƛƴƎ ǊƻŀŘΩ under the 
railway to Barnwell Road has not yet been commenced, though it can be seen that the alignment land 
has been reservedΤ ŀƴŘ ŀ ǎƳŀƭƭ ΨǿƻǊƪǎΩ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ƻƴ ƭŀƴŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƛƳƳŜŘƛŀǘŜ southeast of 
ǘƘŜ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ Ǌŀƛƭǿŀȅ ōǊƛŘƎŜΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ works was eventually to become the IŀƴǎƻƴΩ ǎƛǘŜΣ ǘƘŜ ƻƴƭy 
ƛƴŘǳǎǘǊƛŀƭΩ ǳǎŜ ǊŜƳŀƛƴƛƴƎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ bƻǊƳŀƴ ²ƻǊƪǎ ƛƴ мфуп. 
 
The three photographs below (Figures 37, 38 and 39) give an indication of what the area around 
Cherry Hinton Brook/Snakey Path looked like in the 1960s. In the rather grainy Figure 37, the 
landscape is quite bare, and the brook looks more like a drain than a stream. An adult and a child can 
be seen walking along Snakey Path with the bulk of the Norman Works in front of them. The land on 
the north side of the brook (on the right) is yet to be excavated. Figure 38 shows the meeting of 
Snakey Path and Burnside. Again, there are far fewer trees than in 2014 ς the willows in particular are 
absent. The car is parked on the alignment of the old railway ς the bridge that currently gives access 
to the lakes. Figure 39 gives an impression of how the works dominated all or most views in the area.  
 

 
Figure 37  Norman Works viewed from 

Cherry Hinton Brook (CC) 

 

 
Figure 38  Snakey Path and Burnside in the 

1960s (CC) 
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Figure 39  ±iew of the Norman Works from the then newly built Sǘ .ŜŘŜΩǎ ǎŎƘƻƻƭ όDǊŀƴǘ [ŜǿƛǎƻƴκCambridge New 

Architecture) 

Local Objections over Air and Noise Pollution 
 
Marl quarrying and cement production are manifestly bad neighbours in any residential areas. Not 
only are the processes intrinsically noisy and dusty, but often adaptions to the manufacturing process 
to mitigate pollution can come to be streamlined in order to secure profitability rather than local 
environmental conditions.   
 
A series of complaints from local residents over noise, dust and smells from the Norman Works arose, 
and were recorded by the Cambridge News/Evening News. The publicity given to these complaints 
necessarily stimulated the Works to improve its anti-pollution measures. Some of the reports are 
summarised chronologically below: 
 

¶ 9 March 1964: the Works closes down due to a breakdown in the filter system. A petition had 
been signed by locals a few years earlier (over dust pollution); 

¶ 8 October 1965; many complaints over dust are recorded. The Norman Works is labelled by 
Councillor R May (Romsey) as public nuisance No. 1Ω; 

¶ 12 December 1972: a glass fibre cone (locally known as the bikiniΩ) is placed on top of the 150ft 
chimney to improve smoke dispersal. There are also general improvement worksΩ to reduce dust 
collection and smells; 

¶ 4 July 1973: approximately thirty residents of Burnside sign a petition and threaten to withhold 
their council rates until something is done about noise from the site, which they state is 
unbearableΩ. The residents include: Keith Lagdon (58 Brookfields), Sidney Challis (91 Burnside), 
Sidney Westwood (93), Philip Suckling (97), Kathleen Green (99), Sidney Cornish (Mr & Mrs) (109), 
and Ethel Ward (?) (see Figure 40 below).  Westwood says that effluent is going into the brook and 
killing the fish. Challis states years ago ǘƘƛǎ ǿŀǎ ŀ ƪƛŘǎΩ paradise. Now the brook stinksΩ. While Ian 
McLeod, the WorksΩ manager denied effluent was flowing into the brook, that it was only general 
run-off, Lagdon (who still resides in Brookfields) states that the flow of the brook often used to be 
milky-white.  
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Figure 40  Burnside residents gathered in front of the 

Works to state their complaints (Cambridge News) 

¶ 16 March 1976Υ ǘƘŜ ²ƻǊƪǎ ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜǎ ŀ Good Safety RecordΩ. Employment is recorded as 110. 
 
The question arises over why such complaints were not recorded earlier. The Works had been in 
operation since 1904 and must have been noisy and dirty over the 60 years prior to the first complaint 
being noted in the press. Perhaps the Works had been intensifying its production in its last years, and 
5ȅƭŀƴ aƻƻǊŜΩǎ ŎƘŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǇǊƻduction (Figure 33 above) does indicate a steady increase. Equally, perhaps 
ǇŜƻǇƭŜΩǎ ŜȄǇŜŎǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ ŎƭŜŀƴŜǊ ŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘ ƘŀŘ ǊƛǎŜƴΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƻƭŜǊŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ŀ ŘƛǊǘȅ ƻƴŜ ƭƻǿŜǊŜŘΦ   
 
Noteworthy is the fact that in the 1970s, many of the citizens in the western part of the city, and 
particularly students and staff at the University, were completely unaware of this industrial part of the 
city and the problems the local residents faced ς an illustration of the town and gownΩ factor.  

 
 
The Brookfields Area in 1984 
 
ThŜ мфуп ƳŀǇ όCƛƎǳǊŜ пмύ ŎƭŜŀǊƭȅ ǎƘƻǿǎ ǘƘŜ Ŧƛƴŀƭ ǎŎƻǇŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ bƻǊƳŀƴ ²ƻǊƪǎΩ ǉǳŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ƻƴ ƭŀƴŘ ǎƻǳǘƘ 
of the railway. It is taken that deep excavation is shown on the land opposite Burnside, while 
preliminary excavation is indicated by the dashed lines around the ƳƛŘŘƭŜΩ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǎǘΩ ǇƛǘǎΦ ¢ƘŜǊŜ 
is, however, an incongruity here. As the works closŜŘ Řƻǿƴ ƛƴ мфупΣ Ƙƻǿ ŎƻǳƭŘ ǘƘŜ ƳƛŘŘƭŜΩ ŀƴŘ ŜŀǎǘΩ 
pits be quarried to the depth they currently have, especƛŀƭƭȅ ǘƘŜ ƳƛŘŘƭŜΩ Ǉƛǘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ŀǎ 
being almost ten meters deep? The only explanation must be that the map is based on outdated 
information, and that there must have been an acceleration in quarrying in the WorkǎΩ last few years.  
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Figure 41  1984 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields area 

(Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd) 

The older pits that lay ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴe and the railway have been filled, mostly with waste 
material, though the wash millΩ pit, immediately north of the Works, has not.  
 
It may be supposed that Blue Circle (Norman Works) commenced this new quarrying, which was to 
take in a large tract of land in close proximity to areas of expanding urban use, in the presumption that 
the resulting pits would be filled-in, rehabilitated and used for residential or commercial uses: there 
was little or no intention of creating lakes.       
 
IƻǳǎƛƴƎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ Ƙŀǎ ŜȄǇŀƴŘŜŘΦ ¢ǿƻ ƴŜǿ ŜǎǘŀǘŜǎ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ōǳƛƭǘΣ ƻƴŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ Ŝŀǎǘ ƻŦ {ǘ .ŜŘŜΩǎ 
School, and the other taking up the western section of the Burnside allotments. The Atlas site has 
been reŘŜǾŜƭƻǇŜŘ ŦƻǊ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ ǎǳǇŜǊƳŀǊƪŜǘ and car park, which opened in 1974.     
 
The Draft Romsey Local Plan (1983) 
 
The City Council Planning Department undertook the preparation of the 1983 Draft Romsey Local Plan, 
reflecting the then popularity of localised, community-based planning.  
 
This draft was intended to inform and feed into the subsequent official Romsey Local Plan of 1986. It 
differs from the final 1986 plan in some respects. Focusing on The Chalk Pits ComplexΩ (section 12) 
the document sees the area aǎ ǊƛǇŜ ŦƻǊ ƳŀƧƻǊ ŎƘŀƴƎŜΣ ŎƛǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ 
supermarket, the winding-down of Blue CircleΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ όƻǊ ǇƭŀƴƴŜŘύ ǊŜ-
development of the Blacklands allotments for housing.  
 
/ƻƴǎŜǉǳŜƴǘƭȅΣ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀΩǎ ǇƻǘŜƴǘƛŀƭ contribution to local, open space and recreation, and 
its physical assets (the then two lakes), the main thrust was to limit development of the southern and 
western partΩ (south of the railway) to open space usesΩ, and to conserve its wildlife character.      
 
Policies and statements: 
On the Army Reserve centre:  
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¶ ŀƭƭƻǿ ǘƘŜ ǘƘŜƴ ŘŜǎƛǊŜŘ ŜȄǇŀƴǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ ǎǳǇŜǊƳŀǊƪŜǘ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ǘƘŜ /ƘŜǊǊȅ Iƛƴǘƻƴ 
Brook onto the Army Reserve land ς the purpose is not spelled out, though it may have been 
for parking or storage. 
 

The Blue Circle Industries (BCI) site:   

¶ the western pits ŀƭƻƴƎ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ are zoned as an active domestic refuse tipΩ; 

¶ the wash millΩ site and two pits further east (towards Cherry Hinton) are defined as filledΩ 
domestic refuse tips; 

¶ south of railway are the marl reservesΩ ς the Burnside lake is flooded, and used as a water 
resource for the Works, while the eastern marl quarryΩ pit is not flooded, and land further 
east is in arableΩ use (the eastern pit has not yet been fully excavated); 

¶ BCI are likely to continue manufacturing cement on site for several years and possibly over 
the whole plan periodΩ, yet it has outline plans for modernisation, and for when the plant 
ultimately closes; 

¶ methane recovery will be permitted on all refuse-filled pits to power the Works, though any 
excess will be used elsewhere; 

¶ should there be no methane extraction, the filledΩ pits could be used for commercial 
development, though a possible playground is identified south of Wolsey Way; 

¶ the western active tip όƻƴ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜύ Ƴŀȅ ǿŜƭƭ ōŜ filled by 1987/88, and it should then 
be used for methane extraction or, if not, for agricultural or recreational usesΩ; 

¶ the actual Norman Works site is zoned for light industrial or warehousing use; 

¶ the wash millΩ site ς BCI expressed its intention to use it as a refuse tip, though the Council 
states its desire to try to secure a temporary use as unique informal recreation area of 
wildlife interestΩ;  

¶ the marl reserves (south of the railway): The unquarried land is owned by a private trustΩ, 
and BCI cannot state whether the reserves will be needed. If the land is not quarried, the 
private trustΩ wants the northern part (by the railway) to be developed for housing, to be 
accessed via Chelwood Road, and the southern part to be used for recreation, connected to 
the Spinney. Part of the marl reserveΩ land owned by Peterhouse may probably not be 
quarried as underground services would be difficult to re-route; 

¶ the Burnside pit and the marl pitΩ (the un-flooded and not-yet-fully quarried eastern pit) 
should not be used for refuse disposal as it is surrounded by housing and Sǘ .ŜŘŜΩǎΦ 
However, by combiningΩ the two pits there might be the potential for water-based 
recreation and non-motorised boating, diving and & fishingΩ. The city council will seek to 
explore this potential with BCI & Peterhouse to decide the long term future of these sitesΩ;  

¶ generally, a policy of sensitive management could conserve and enhance the wildlifeΩ of the 
area south of the railway.  Concerning worries about access and traffic, vehicle access 
should be via the current BCI access on ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΤ 

¶ the Blacklands allotments ς though Peterhouse would prefer the land to be developed for 
housing, the Council will not permit it, as a valuable amenity;  

¶ Cherry Hinton Brook is recognised for its value as an attractive natural featureΩ, and 
measures should be undertaken to enhance its environment along its whole course with 
improvements, including a footpath along its northern side, and seating; 

¶ There should be tree planting throughout to enhance the appearance of the area. 
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The draft plan notes that the policies concerning the chalk pits complexΩ should be viewed as 
flexible, and should only form a basis for future discussion over what is likely to be a considerable 
period of timeΩ. 
 
Existing land uses at the time are shown in Figure 42 below, while proposed land uses are shown in 
Figure 43 further below.  
 

 
Figure 42  Existing uses, Draft Romsey Local 
Plan, 1983 (adapted from Ordnance Survey) 

Army Reserve (then TAVR) site 
1: staff housesΩ 
2: general TAVR facilitiesΩ 
3: the lakeΩ 
4:  the assault courseΩ 
5:  vacant landΩ 
 

BCI site 
6: ready mix cement worksΩ 
7: active refuse tipΩ 
8: liquid waste disposalΩ 
9: wash millΩ 
10: staff housingΩ 
11: filled refuse tipsΩ 
12: main cement worksΩ 
13: marl reservesΩ 
14: marl quarryΩ 
15:  Burnside lakeΩ 

 
 

 
Figure 43  Proposals, Draft Romsey Local Plan, 
1983 (adapted from Ordnance Survey) 

A: shoppingΩ 
B: new facilitiesΩ  
C: gas extractionΩ / primarily open spaceΩ 
D: domestic refuse tipsΩ 
E: industrial estateΩ 
F: gas extractionΩ / industrial estateΩ 
G: ƘƻǳǎƛƴƎΩ 
H: recreationΩ 
J: allotmentsΩ / primarily open spaceΩ 
K: primarily open spaceΩ 
M: staff housingΩ 
L:  assault course extensionΩ 
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From the text of the draft plan the impression can be gained that Blue Circle essentially wished to 
be left alone to wind down its business according to its own schedule. It is likely that by 1983 the 
decreasing profitability and feasibility of the Norman Works was generally acknowledged: there 
was little marl left to quarry south of the railway; transporting marl from elsewhere would be 
costly; the plant was becoming increasingly outdated; housing development was hemming it in; 
public and political opinion was becoming more critical of its impact on the neighbourhood; the 
number of employed was decreasing.   
 
Nonetheless, it seems that re-development of the area was not a priority, and considerable leeway 
ǿŀǎ ƎƛǾŜƴ ǘƻ ƻǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŦƻǊ .ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜΩǎ ƳŀȄƛƳƛǎŜŘ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ǳƴǘƛƭ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ Ŧƛƴŀƭƭȅ ǿƻǳƴŘ ŘƻǿƴΦ  
 
Other points of particular interest are:  

¶ tŜǘŜǊƘƻǳǎŜΩǎ plans for its land which comprised part of the un-quarried marl reserve. In 
Figure 43 above, GΩ indicates the area Peterhouse was proposing for housing, to be 
accessed, presumably, via Chelwood Road. This development has subsequently taken place, 
to form the Haystor Drive/Harcombe Road residential area. However, the area identified as 
HΩ was proposed for recreation. This is now where the Spinney School is located, along with 
some recreation land. The wooded area ς later to become the Spinney/Hayster Protected 
Open SpaceΩ in the 2006 Local Plan ς was left un-zoned.   

¶ The newly-built SŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ supermarket (on the old Atlas site) was expected to need land 
for expansion, and the only land available was on part of the Army Reserve centre (the old 
Saxon site) across Cherry Hinton Brook. The assumption is that the need was for extra 
parking space, which was subsequently developed, leaving the brook and the footpath 
somewhat beleaguered.  

¶ The Army Reserve, or TAVR as it was called in the draft plan, wanted to re-develop its base. 
The mainly one-storey sheds were to be replaced by more substantial buildings, and the 
small row of semi-detached houses lying alongside the brook were to go. The training 
assault course, largely on the south side of the Army Reserve lake, was to expand into the 
triangle-shaped piece of land between the Tins and the railway. This also never occurred, 
and the land is currently a litter-strewn thicket.  

¶ The Staff housingΩ identified at MΩ on the map above must reflect land use which is evident 
on O/S maps from 1950 to, at the latest, 1991, where a block, presumably of housing, is 
shown. It is probable that this was housing associated with the Army Reserve centre, though 
this has not been confirmed. Currently, the site is occupied by an Army Reserve shed. 

¶ Peterhouse, the current or former owners of the Blacklands allotments, wished to re-
develop the whole site for housing. The City Council recognised the high demand for 
allotments and threw cold water on the proposal.   

¶ The actual site of the Norman Works is zoned for light industrial or warehousing use. The 
site, nonetheless, was developed for the Holiday Inn hotel and the David Lloyd gym. How 
this change of use was negotiated is not known.  

 
The Romsey Local Plan (July 1986) 
 
By the time the 1986 Plan was officially approved, the Norman Works had finally closed down, in 1984, 
and consequently parts of the Plan address the future of the site and the pits (filled-in, inundated or 
otherwise) which were now available for re-development. Concerning the chalk pitsΩ in particular: the 
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changes which will occur in this area will be controlled so as to achieve the maximum benefit, 
especially in the field of recreationΩ.  
 
The Plan goes on to identify important factors of the pits area: 

¶ the area is a vital part of the open space setting of east CambridgeΩ; 

¶ there is a variety of physical features which provide important visual contrasts and natural 
habitatsΩ; 

¶ Cherry Hinton Brook and most of the rest of the area are sites of Natural History Interest. 
 
The Plan also stated that, concerning the area earlier covered by the Norman Works and its pits, that 
the most important area lies south of the railway (probably a reflection of the use of the northern pits 
for waste disposal). Policies included in the Plan that directly concerned the old works site and the pits 
are summarised as follows: 

¶ Policy 60: the open space setting will be retained by restricting future development; 

¶ Policy 77: current environmental qualities are to be retained, where possible, by (a) restricting 
development and (b) conserving wildlife interest; 

¶ Policy 85: the use of the disused pits for waste disposal will not normally be permitted; 

¶ Policy 87: through-routes for pedestrians and cyclists is to be encouraged. It is acknowledged that 
Snakey Path is too narrow to effectively accommodate both pedestrians and cyclists. The long-
term objective is to have a second walkway along the north side of the brook; 

¶ Policy 88: tree planting and landscape improvement will be undertaken in conjunction with land 
owners; 

¶ Also, some housing is proposed on the small piece of land where the Tins meets Brookfields. 
 
Also stated was that if the pits south of the railway are left unfilled they should be used for quiet 
boating, diving, fishing, conservationΩ and wildlife enhancement. It appears that it was the CƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ 
policy of now discouraging waste disposal that led to the pits south of the railway becoming lakes.  
 
Concerning vehicle access to the development and conservation sites, the Council should enter into 
negotiations with Blue Circle and Peterhouse College (being the main landowners). 
 
Concerning other areas in the vicinity: 

¶ Policy 78: development by Sainsbury's on the TAVR (Army Reserve) side of Cherry Hinton Brook is 
supported in principle (referring to the extended car park); 

¶ Policy 79: development of the TAVR site for housing, general facilities and an assault course will be 
permitted;  

¶ Policy 80: the recovery of methane gas from the active refuse pits will be permitted, though if 
there is no such recovery development for industry will be encouraged; 

¶ Policy 81: this is similar to Policy 80, though here stating that if there is no recovery of methane 
the pits should be used for open space or agriculture;  

¶ Policy 82: redevelopment of the main works siteΩ should be for industrial uses; 

¶ Policy 83: the use of liquid waste and wash mill sites for refuse tipping will normally be permittedΩ. 
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Figure 44  [ocation of the policies outlined above (author) 

A generalised interpretation of the 1986 Local Plan is that the area impacted by the Norman Works is 
to be divided ς the land and pits south of the railway will be earmarked for recreation and 
conservation, while that to the north of the railway is earmarked mainly for a mix of industry, housing 
(Army Reserve site), waste disposal and the recovery of methane gas ς originally intended to diversify 
(and cheapen) fuel consumption for the Norman Works.  
 
This 1986 plan mirrors the 1984 draft in most aspects ς the main difference being the absence of 
housing on the Blacklands allotments proposed by Peterhouse, which the draft was minded to refuse.  
 
The End of Operations at the Norman Works 
 
As described in BPCM, ACPM, Blue Circle and Lafarge ŀōƻǾŜΣ !t/aΩǎ ǇǊƻŦƛǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ƭƻǿ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳƛŘ-
1970s. However, by the 1980s profits were back up again, and the company, by 1978 called Blue Circle, 
embarked upon a programme of modernising its works. It has not been determined whether the 
Norman Works was part of this programme, yet it can be supposed that by that time the works had 
been earmarked for closure. In the meantime, however, operating costs would have to be kept to the 
minimum.  
 
In 1981 the Cambridge Evening News (CEN) reported that the Works was exploring the possibility of 
using methane gas, obtained from the waste-filled pits, to part-fuel its kiln (this possibility was 
reflected in the 1986 Romsey Local Plan), and indeed, ōȅ мфуо мл҈ ƻŦ ƪƛƭƴ /мΩǎ fuel was landfill gas.  
In August 1983 the CEN reported a resurgence in complaints from local residents over dust, yet the 
public health inspector stated that it was within the permitted limits. It can, nonetheless, be assumed 
that, based on the history of local concern over dust and noise pollution, a good deal of local political 
opposition to the Works had builǘ ǳǇΦ ¢ƘƛǎΣ ǘŀƪŜƴ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ²ƻǊƪΩǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛǾŜƭȅ ƭƻǿ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ǾƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅΣ Ƴŀȅ 
have only encouraged Blue Circle to cease operations.  
 
The CEN reported in June 1984 that Blue Circle was engaged in a programme to find alternative jobs 
for those probably to be made unemployed. It was stated that there was a staff of 91:- 57 process 
workers, 10 drivers, and 24 administrative personnel. Marshall's made a commitment to offer 
employment to a fifth of these.  
 
Though manufacturing at the Works ceased in 1984, resulting in 91 redundancies, the site was still 
used for grinding, storage and distribution, employing 22. There was some opposition to closure, 
though negotiation was fruitless and on 24 January 1987, the CEN stated that there was official Notice 
of Closure, as part of the general Blue Circle modernisation programme. As Richard Attwood, manager 
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of the site at the time stated, there is a typical East Anglian reaction here. They seem to have resigned 
themselves to itΩ.  
 
In January 1988 CEN reported that the City Council Planning Department (the City Council having taken 
on responsibility for planning) had commenced assessment of potential new uses for the area: a mix of 
education, water sports and camping.   
 
In February 1988 CEN described the demolition of the 150ft chimney, which had been part of the 1948 
modernisation. One of area's best known landmarksΩ, CEN stated, and there were crowds of people to 
witness the event, causing some local traffic chaos. Proximity to the airport was one of the stated 
reasons for demolition.  
 
The two photographs below show the Works as it was in 1987.  Figure 45 shows it from Burnside 
ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ǘƘŜ ΨƳƛŘŘƭŜΩ ƭŀƪŜΦ bƻǘŜ ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀƭƪ ΨŜǎŎŀǊǇƳŜƴǘǎΩ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƪŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŀǾŜ ōȅ нлмп 
become far more overgrown. Figure 46 shows what must have been an everyday sight to travellers 
along the Tins ςapproaching from the east these silos would have risen up somewhat like the towers 
of a medieval castle.    
 
Further below are two photographs of the demolition of the 150ft chimney in 1988. The presence of a 
policeman on then Tins indicates the need to control interested onlookers.  
 

 
Figure 45  A 1987 view of the disused Norman Works 

from Burnside (CC) 

 
Figure 46  ¢he Norman Works silos seen from 

the Tins footpath in 1987 (CC) 

 

 
Figure 47  ¢he Norman 
²ƻǊƪǎΩ 150ft chimney (CC) 

 

 
Figure 48  ±iew from the Tins of the 
demolition of the chimney. About to 

go. (CC) 

 

 
Figure 49  5emolition of the chimney. 

Gone. (CC) 
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Post-1980s. Re-Development and/or Conservation 
 

The Brookfields Area in 1991 and 2002 

 
Figure 50  1991 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields 

area (Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd). 

 
Figure 51  2002 Ordnance Survey map of the Brookfields 

area (Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd). 

By 1991 (Figure 50) the Brookfields area was much as it had been in 1984. However, now the Norman 
Works had been demolished and the site cleared. No re-development has yet taken place. Excavation 
for marl had continued through the 1970s, and probably the early 1980s, on the land lying between 
Cherry Hinton Brook and the railway, as had been sanctioned in the 1956 Cambridge Plan and 
subsequent local development plans. The southeastern-Ƴƻǎǘ Ǉƛǘ όŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ƴƻǊǘƘ ƻŦ {ǘ .ŜŘŜΩǎ /ǊŜǎŎŜƴǘύ 
had been excavated, being the last pit the Works quarried. Both of the pits south of the railway have 
become flooded to form, along with the inundated old Saxon Works pit (now the Army Reserve lake), 
ǘƘŜ ǘƘǊŜŜ .ǊƻƻƪŦƛŜƭŘǎ ƭŀƪŜǎΦ hŦ ǘƘŜ Ǉƛǘǎ ƭȅƛƴƎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ Ǌŀƛƭǿŀȅ ŀƴŘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ǘƘŜ ƻƴŜ ƭȅƛƴƎ 
directly north of the Tins footbridge over the railway appears to be still receiving waste material, while 
the old ǿŀǎƘ ƳƛƭƭΩ Ǉƛǘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŎƭŜŀǊŜŘ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ǘŀƴƪǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴǾŜȅƻǊ ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘΦ    
 
The Norman Works has completely gone, with only the access road remaining. The small terrace of 
two houses frontƛƴƎ ƻƴǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǿŀǎƘ ƳƛƭƭΩ ŀǊŜŀ is still in place. The Army Reserve site 
has been re-developed, and the row of houses lining the brook that were assumedly part of the Army 
Reserve complex has ƴƻǿ ōŜŜƴ ŘŜƳƻƭƛǎƘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǇŀƴǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ {ŀƛƴǎōǳǊȅΩǎ ŎŀǊ ǇŀǊƪΦ ¢ƘŜ ¢ƛǾŜǊǘƻƴ 
Way estate has been expanded with the Budleigh Close housing, and the Doggett Road area of Cherry 
Hinton has expanded west towards the ŜŀǎǘΩ ƭŀƪŜΣ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ {ǇƛƴƴŜȅ tǊƛƳŀǊȅ {ŎƘƻƻƭΦ  
 
By 2002 (Figure 51) the picture remained much the same. The remaining smaller building near the 
wash millΩ Ƙŀǎ ƎƻƴŜΣ ŀǎ Ƙŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƳŀƭƭ ǘŜǊǊŀŎŜ ƻƴ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ όǇƻǎǎƛōƭȅ {ŀȄƻƴ IƻǳǎŜ ŀƴŘ tƻǊǘƭŀƴŘ 
House, where cement workers Arthur Hayes and Charles Thurgood lived in 1920). The alignment of 
the Tins footpath appears to be a bit vague in 2002. {ǘ .ŜŘŜΩǎ Ƙŀǎ ŜȄǇŀƴŘŜŘΦ  
 
 
 
 



MILL ROAD HISTORY PROJECT BUILDING REPORT            East Romsey Cement Works 

48 
 

Local Government 
 
It should be noted, particularly at this stage of the assessment of the cement works area and making 
proposals for its re-ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ƛǎ ŘƛǾƛŘŜŘ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘǊŜŜ ƻŦ /ŀƳōǊƛŘƎŜΩǎ ǿŀǊŘǎΥ 
Romsey, Cherry Hinton and Coleridge.  
 

 
Figure 52  Local government boundaries 

(adapted from Ordnance Survey / AGB 
Environmental Ltd) 

This division of the area has little or no effect on its re-development, but it might affect the 
assessment and classification of such assets as Open Space, assessment often being based on 
population densities per ward.   
 
Re-Development of the Cement Works Area 
 
Once disused, the Norman Works site and the area of the pits (filled or inundated) presented a 
considerable opportunity ς formally for re-development, and informally for amusement ς though both 
remediation and safety measures were first required.   
 
Pits used Refuse disposal 
 

Using O/S maps and photographs, a chronology of the filling of the pits has been compiled, shown in 
Figure 52 above.   
 
The 1999 Review of Health Safety and Environmental Hazards of the Blue Circle Site, undertaken by 
Mott MacDonald for the City Council, gives a useful overview of the filling of the pits.  
 
¢ƘŜ ŦƛƭƭŜŘ Ǉƛǘǎ ƻŎŎǳǇȅ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƴŘ ƴƻǊǘƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ǌŀƛƭǿŀȅ ŀƴŘ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ŀƴŘ Ŏŀƴ be divided 
into the westernΩ ό !Ω ŀƴŘ BΩ in Figure 52 above) and easternΩ ό 5Ω ŀƴŘ EΩ) pits, with the washmillΩ 
site lying in between. 
 
Filling of the western pits, then known as the Biffa site ς Biffa working as an agent of Blue Circle, 
commenced licensed dumping in 1978 with industrial, commercial and domestic waste. The site 
returned to Blu Circle in 1987 and closed in 1989. The depth of the landfill was given as being between 
33 and 66 feet. An inspection in 1992 found a very shallow covering, of less than 1 foot = 0.1 to 0.4m. 
This was later increased, probably due to request by the Council, and an impermeable membrane was 
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ƭŀƛŘ ŀƭƻƴƎǎƛŘŜ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ  
 
Permission to use the eastern pits for the disposal of domestic and commercial waste was granted by 
the County Council in 1959, and, presumably, was undertaken by the County, and/or City, Council. 
Dumping in pit D (see Figure 53 below) commenced in 1962 and ceased in 1969. Depth of landfill being 
gauged as approximately 38 feet topped with an earth layer varying between 1.5 and 5 feet. 
Operations in pit E started in 1972 and came to an end in 1978, leaving a landfill depth of around 40 
feet.  
 
There were, however, health and safety concerns, and as a 1992 survey found significant methane 
levels within the waste and in ŀ ŎǳƭǾŜǊǘ ƭȅƛƴƎ ƴƻǊǘƘ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΣ ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŜǊŜ ǿƻǊǊƛŜǎ ƻǾŜǊ ƭŜŀƪƛƴƎ 
gas. Local residents were approached by the City and County Councils with offers of free gas surveys, 
though, apparently, few took up the offerΩ. High levels of arsenic and selenium also found in pit E.  
 
Seepage into the washmillΩ ǎƛǘŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ŦƛƭƭŜŘΣ ǿŀǎ ƳƛǘƛƎŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ŀ ǇǳƳǇ ς though 
where the seepage was pumped is unclear.  
 
Assumedly capitalising on the previous use of the area for landfill, the 1998 Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Waste Management Plan Consultation Draft identified the washmillΩ site and the site of 
the Norman works as having the potential for a major waste management facilityΩ, which would 
include the recovery of materials, anaerobic digestion, recycling, composting and energy generation. 
While this outline designation had the effect of obstructing other development proposals, the 
suggestion, fortunately, came to nothing. 
 
The Review also took in the lakes. Concern over any leaching into them from landfill sites was 
considered unlikely due to low permeability of clay. In the eastern (FΩ, below), middle (GΩ) and in 
Cherry Hinton Brook the review stated that the water is clear, and in stagnant or slow-moving parts 
there is no evidence to the naked eye of a film of contaminant building upΩ. The Army Reserve lake was 
not inspected as there was no access, and it was considered that it would not contribute to any 
proposals for public amenity or commercial development.   
 
The practice of using the vacant pits north of the railway for dumping waste was in the process of 
being prohibited by the time of the 1986 Romsey Local Plan, though that plan still countenanced some 
dumping in particular circumstances (Policy 85). Lǘ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ǳƴǘƛƭ мфут ǘƘŀǘ .ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜ ƳŀŘŜ ŀƴ 
application for infilling and restoration of mineral working plus associated ancillary worksΩ for all the 
land lying north of the railway. As this application was after the closing of the Works, it must represent 
a general remediation programme intended to make the land developable and saleable. In this case a 
minimum of a metre of top soil was required.  
 
It is likely that all the pits used for dumping (AΩ, BΩ, DΩ ŀƴŘ EΩ in Figure 53 below) are classified as 
contaminated land under current legislative guidance. The pits fall into three of the categories defining 
potentially contaminating usesΩ ƛƴ /ŀƳōǊƛŘƎŜ /ƛǘȅ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ /ƻƴǘŀƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ [ŀƴŘ ς 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊΩǎ DǳƛŘŜΥ 

¶ coal and mineral mining and processing, both deep mines and opencast; 

¶ manufacture and use of asbestos, cement, lime and gypsum;  

¶ landfill, storage and incineration of waste. 
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Figure 53  [ayout of the area post-closure 

(adapted from Ordnance Survey / AGB 
Environmental Ltd) 

 

A = 2
nd

 pit filled-in by/before 1984 and covered over by 1991; 
B = 3

rd
 pit filled-in by/before 1984 and not rehabilitatedΩ by 2002;  

C = 1
st
 pit, the wash millΩ site, un-filled (now developed for commercial 

uses); 
D = 4

th
 pit, dumping started in 1972, filled-in by 1973 and covered over 

by 1984; 
E = 5

th
 pit, dumping started in 1969/70, filled-in by 1973 and covered 

over by 1984; 
F = 7

th
 pit, inundated by, if not before, 1991; 

G = 6
th

 pit, inundated by, if not before, 1991; 
H = Saxon Works pit, inundated by 1925 ς now the Army Reserve lake; 
SW = site of Saxon Works (now developed as the Army Reserve centre);  
NW = site of Norman Works (now developed as hotel & gym).  

 
 
 
 
 

For the waste-filled pits a programme of decontamination has been/is being required, which can be a 
lengthy process. In early 1990 an application to the Council for the installation of land fill gas flareΩ was 
approved. Currently gas (methane) extraction mechanisms are visible on pit B at least. None of the 
waste-filled pits have yet (2014) been re-developed, though they have been cleared, possibly with a 
view to some form of development ς perhaps housing.  
 
Of the several disused marl pits, only the wash millΩ site has seen any actual construction 
(commercial), and that is because it was not filled ς which explains its relative lowness in relation to 
surrounding land. However, in 2015 it is noticeable that the depth of this site in relation to the filled 
land around it is resulting in some inundation at its edges, which may be partly due to seepage and the 
impermeability of the clay base.   
 
Of the water-filled pits ς the lakes ς the eastern two (GΩ and FΩ above) have been leased to the Cherry 
Hinton and District Angling Club (CHADAC), and are managed for fishing. The club does not welcome 
members of the public onto the site, and the perimeter around the lakes is fenced off. The northern 
lake (HΩ) falls within the Army Reserve site, and, while being maintained, forms part of the local 
training ground. The easternmost lake ( FΩ) has been repeatedly subject to informal use for bathing and 
parties, typically on hot summer weekends, for decades. In September 1990 the Cambridge Evening 
News reported that Cherry Hinton councillor Anne Wright was raising concern over kids swimming 
and running freeΩ in and around the lake, and that there was no effective security and the fences were 
broken down.   
 
One of the main difficulties in the management of development of the area has been its complex 
ownership, which has changed considerably over the years ς it is probable that neither the original 
Saxon and Norman works nor Blue Circle had freehold ownership all the land included in the site; 
much of it, particularly that belonging to Peterhouse, may have been leased, or even exploited under 
licence. The current owners (early 2015) are the City Council, Peterhouse and the Anderson Group. 
Nonetheless, the overall nature of development should be determined by the local planning authority, 
and this generally guided development proposals which followed the closure of the Works and the 
clearing of the site.  
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Re-development of the Area ς proposed and/or completed 
 
The area, regardless of its problems with contaminated land and its potential for conservation/ 
recreation, can only be considered brownfieldΩ land ς ex-industrial land ς and government planning 
policy has a general preferment for urbanΩ development on this type of land as opposed to on 
greenfieldΩ areas (agricultural, forest or open land). Accordingly, with such a large brownfield acreage 
becoming available, in a city with a strong local economy, and with (relatively) good road connections, 
speculative proposals arose. Proposals for such an area are often made irrespective of the web of 
ownership, assuming that individual owners will either form a joint enterprise of sorts or dispose of 
their property.   
 
The 1989/90 application referred to above (for land fill gas flares) was for the construction of an access 
road (presumably what is now Norman Way), the erection of fencing and gates, and some landscaping. 
This application may indicate that the land was being prepared for re-development, although there 
had been two earlier applications to develop the north-westernmost pits ( AΩ and BΩ in Figure 53 
above). Both of these were in 1976, one to develop a civil engineering depotΩ, the other (applied for 
by APCM) for a small bore rifle rangeΩ. Both of these were approved, yet neither came to fruition.   
 
In June 1991 Cambridge Evening News had a report of a proposal by Blue Circle for a multi million 
poundΩ business, industry and retail park on the 30 acres north of the railway. The 43 acres south of 
the railway was proposed for public space/nature reserveΩ. While it is evident that nothing 
demonstrable came of this, a general pattern of proposed re-development had been set: conservation 
in the south and non-residential development in the north.   
 
In February 1992 the CEN reported that Morrison Developments (taken as being the limited liability 
company based in Cheltenham) had bought part of .ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜΩs 120 acres, with a proposal for leisure 
uses, including a cinema, a hotel, restaurants, a night club, a bowling alley, and related uses, and was 
claimed to generate approximately 500 jobs. This can be viewed as complementing the Blue Circle 
proposal, which retained the central portion of the area for its development of business-related uses. 
The Morrison proposal came to nothing. (It may be assumed that Morrison subsequently sold the land 
to another party ς either back to Blue Circle or to Land Securities.)  
 

 
Figure 54  {ketch of the Morrison Developments 

proposal (adapted from CEN) 

In late 1992 Blue Circle was given outline approval for a scheme involving the demolition of existing 
houses and redevelopment of former quarry and cement works for up to 8845sqm gross floorspace 
for general industrial use (Class B2) and 13,380 m2 gross floorspace for warehousingΩ. (The housing 
must have included the two Victorian ones fronting on ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜύΦ ¢ƘŜ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭ ŀǘǘŀŎƘŜŘ ǘƘŜ 
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condition that all construction must maintain a lƻǿ ƘŜƛƎƘǘΣ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŀƛǊǇƻǊǘΩǎ ŦƭƛƎƘǘ ǇŀǘƘΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ 
include appropriate nature conservation measuresΩ such as a 20-metre-wide green corridorΩ along its 
southern edge.  
 
However, by September 1993 the CEN reported that .ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜΩǎ ǎŎƘŜƳŜ ƘŀŘ ŎƘŀƴƎŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǘǎ 
plans for the area now focused on leisure (bowling alley, cinema, restaurant, shops), a proposal similar 
to MorrisonΩǎΦ   
 
These new proposals led to a local public meeting being convened at which great concern was 
expressed over the volume of traffic it would produce (two-lane /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ōŜƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƻƴly 
access). Whether or not related to these concerns, plans were subsequently scaled down in January, 
and then completely changed again, to light industrial use.  
 
It appears evident that little or no progress was achieved with these plans between 1993 and 1997, as 
in March that year the CEN ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ .ƭǳŜ /ƛǊŎƭŜ ƘŀŘ ƭƻŘƎŜŘ ŀƴ ŀǇǇŜŀƭ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ǘƘŜ /ƻǳƴǘȅ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ 
decision to deem development proposals for ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊƳŜǊ ²ƻǊƪǎΩ ǎƛǘŜ ŀǎ dormantΩ (the County Council 
having responsibility for establishing the strategic planning parameters for the whole county which 
should be mirrored by the City CouncilΩǎ Ǉƭŀƴǎ). The rationale behind the appeal was to give Blue Circle 
flexibility: having the site acknowledged as liveΩ meant that development proposals could still be 
generated and altered. However, after the clearing of the Norman Works site, or possibly before, it is 
reasonable to assume that Blue Circle entered into negotiations with development companies over the 
disposal of the land. 
 
Cambridge News reported that Land Securities purchased the area in April 2002, presumably from Blue 
Circle, and later submitted an application to the Council in 2003 for the construction of a footpath and 
cyclewayΩ at Norman Way ς seemingly an up-grading of the Tins. It may be that Land Securities had 
sub-ŘƛǾƛŘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ŦƻǊ ŘƛŦŦŜǊŜƴǘ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊǎΣ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ .ǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ tŀǊƪ on the wash 
millΩ site, and on the actual factory site: David Lloyd Leisure (at that time Next Generation) with eight 
indoor tennis courts and four outdoor courts, three squash courts and four badminton courts, an 
indoor swimming pool, gym and aerobic and yoga studios (the Next Generation chain was created by 
former British tennis player David Lloyd); and the 100-room Holiday Inn Express on the actual factory 
site, developed by BDL Hotels in 2003 and opened in 2004, with, as Cambridge News reported it, a 
wildlife zoneΩ surrounding it.  
 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ .ǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ tŀǊƪΣ ƻŎŎǳǇȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ wash millΩ area and accessed by the new Norman 
Way, was developed at much the same time, and a number of businesses were established: Mitchell & 
.ǳǘƭŜǊΩǎ wŜǘŀƛƭ (pub and restaurant management); Sweatshop (sports equipment); Millennium 
Investments (wholesale food); Booker (wholesale food); Pulsar Light (illumination); Bike Sense 
(motorcycles); Creative Education Corporation (primary education, now out of business); Windhorse 
Trading (ethical gifts). Inspection in early 2015 shows that there appears to have been some change 
over the last few years, with only Booker, Pulsar and Windhorse occupying the site (Windhorse closed 
for business in mid 2015). Lexus and Toyota have showrooms ƻƴ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǇ ƻŦ bƻǊƳŀƴ 
Way (more or less on the site of the cottages possibly occupied by cement workersΩ Arthur Hayes and 
Arthur Morley), and there is now also a servicing workshop for cars and commercial vehicles.   
 
At some point, probably in the late 2000s or early 2010s, Land Securities either sold or entered into a 
partnership over the remainder of the area ς essentially the contaminated and less-developable filled-
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in pits ς to or with the Anderson Group, which is reported as having experience in dealing with 
contaminated land. The Anderson Group, stated on its website as freehold owners of the two land 
parcels to the north of the railway line, and Χ co-owners of the land to the south of the railway line 
(that accommodating the lakes)Ω is currently (2014) engaged in negotiations over the development 
options of the area.  
 

 
Figure 55  ¢ƘŜ ƻƭŘ bƻǊƳŀƴ ²ƻǊƪΩǎ ǎƛǘŜΣ ƭƻƻƪƛƴƎ ŜŀǎǘΥ ǘƘŜ IƻƭƛŘŀȅ Lƴƴ 9ȄǇǊŜǎǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ 5ŀǾƛŘ [ƭƻȅŘ [ŜƛǎǳǊŜ 

centre beyond. The railway lies behind the hotel. (author) 

 

In the years since the business park, the hotel and the gym were built, little has changed on the 
ground, apart from vegetation being cleared in 2013/14 on re-filled pits DΩ and EΩ (Figure 52 above) 
despite their City Wildlife Site status, presumably by the owners the Anderson Group. The reason 
ōŜƘƛƴŘ ǘƘƛǎ ŎƭŜŀǊŀƴŎŜ Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ǘƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƘƻǇŜ of having those sites ultimately designated for 
development (commercial and/or residential) ς a hope which the Group has expressed.   
 
Be that as it may, there has also been much assessment of, and discussion on, the future of the area.  
 

2005 Cambridge Wildlife Sites Register  
 
In 2005 a Cambridge Wildlife Sites Register was compiled by the Wildlife Trust to record the 
conservation status of specific sites as part one of the Cambridge Nature Conservation Strategy. Four 
of the Wildlife Sites are relevant to the cement works area:  
 
a) the Army Reserve (Territorial Army) Pit (the old Saxon Works pit), now referred to as the CU 

Officer Training Corps Pit, is described as: 
 
a disused chalk pit covering 8.11ha, of which 3.9ha is a steep-sided lake with the remainder consisting of 
blocks of scrub and highly diverse chalk grassland. The site qualifies as a City Wildlife Site for calcareous 
grassland, and also for neutral grassland, and scrub; 

 
b) the Norman Cement Pits (26.72 acres, formerly the two sites named Blue Circle-Norman Cement, 

and Norman Cement Pit East, aka the lakes, Ǉƛǘǎ GΩ ŀƴŘ FΩ ƛƴ Cigure 48 above), described as 
comprising  

 
two large disused chalk pits (quarried for the cement industry) with adjoining areas of scrub and 
woodland, grassland and tall herb vegetation. The pits are flooded and used for angling (by CHADAC), the 
deep clear water contains a variety of fish species that include carp, perch, tench, bream and roach. 
Historically the pits have been selected as two separate Wildlife Sites known as Blue Circle-Norman 
Cement and Norman Cement Pit-East. With the sites being located immediately adjacent to each other it 
is considered more appropriate that they are treated as a single ecological unit; it is therefore proposed 
that their boundaries are unified to form one large City Wildlife Site named Norman Cement Pits.  

The site qualifies as a City Wildlife Site as it meets several indicative criteria. 
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c) the /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ hƭŘ [ŀƴŘŦƛƭƭ {ƛǘŜǎ όŦƻǊƳŜǊƭȅ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ ǘƘǊŜŜ ǎƛǘŜǎ ς Blue Circle Old Landfill 

(11.59 acres), Blue Circle Oldest Landfill (8.86 acres), and ColdhŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ IŜŘƎŜǊƻǿύΦ ¢ƘŜ уΦфм-
hectare City Wildlife Site is described as: 
  

two old landfill sites that now form a green space comprising largely scrub, poor semi-improved grassland 
together with tall ruderal vegetation. With the sites being located immediately adjacent to each other it 
is considered more appropriate that they are treated as a single ecological unit; it is therefore proposed 
that their boundaries are unified to form one large City ²ƛƭŘƭƛŦŜ {ƛǘŜ ƴŀƳŜŘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ hƭŘ [ŀƴŘŦƛƭƭ 
{ƛǘŜǎΦ ! ǘƘƛǊŘ ǎƛǘŜΣ ŦƻǊƳŜǊƭȅ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ IŜŘƎŜǊƻǿ, which adjoins the northern perimeter of 
Blue Circle Old Landfill, has also been incorporated into the new site boundary. 
 
This site qualifies as a City Wildlife Site for scrub with a strong diversity of woody scrub indicator species 
present in significant numbers. It qualifies Χ for hedgerows. It further qualifies Χ as a habitat mosaic; a 
site over 1ha in size with a mix of scrub, semi-improved grassland and ruderal communities and which by 
virtue of its position in an ecological unitΩ, human valueΩ in the form of use for recreation by children 
and dog walkers, and potential valueΩ, is judged to score highly against the supplementary criteria. 

 

d) the Spinney and Hayster Open Space. This land, lying at the southeast corner of the lakesΩ area and 
next to the Spinney School, was never excavated and therefore is not exactly part of the cement pits 
system, but it is directly adjacent to the lakes and is included in proposals for the area.  The Spinney 
was formerly eligible as a County Wildlife Site as it had a high index of ecological continuity. However, 
due to changes in the index of ecological continuity it no longer qualified. Nonetheless, having at least 
four mature pollard trees, the site does qualify as a City Wildlife Site.   
 

While the grasslands are not of City Wildlife Site status in their own right, they form important 
supplementary habitat to the SpinneyΧ. It is therefore proposed that a new City Wildlife Site be created 
to include the Spinney and associated semi-natural grasslands, tall herb vegetation and scrub. This larger 
site qualifies under the Habitat Mosaic criteria, as a site over one hectare in extent with two or more of 
the appropriate habitats (woodland, scrub, mature trees, semi-improved grassland and tall ruderal 
communities) and which is judged to score highly against the supplementary criteria. 

 

The Register deleted two sites in the cement works area that had previously been identified as having 
nature conservation importance ς the Railway reserve running between the pits, and the Blue Circle 
Chalk PitΩ ς the wash millΩ site, subsequently zoned as a protected industrial siteΩ.  
 
 
2006 Cambridge Local Plan 
 
The 2006 Cambridge Local Plan, addressing development in the east of the city, introduced an area of 
major changeΩ for the Cambridge Airport land. At that time, and indeed from at least 2000 and up until 
around 2008, there was a strong assumption that Marshall (the airport owner) was considering a 
relocation to a more favourable and less hemmed-in site. This would release a large swathe of land 
directly adjacent to the city available for development ς potentially 4,660 dwellings. Yet, this area of 
major changeΩ did not extend south to include the vacant land lying between ColdhaƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 
railway ς filled-in pits AΩ, BΩ and DΩ in Figure 48 above ς the more complex ownership and land 
contamination may have made it less able to be integrated.     
 
In the Local Plan much of the old Norman and Saxon works site was zoned as City Wildlife Sites ς a 
classification that does not have statutory authority, meaning that it can be invalidated or altered as 
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may be later considered necessary. Cambridgeshire County Council (which designated County Wildlife 
SitesΩ, defines the sites as 
  

areas of local importance for nature conservation that complement nationally and internationally 
designated geological and wildlife sites. Designating these areas as Local Sites raises awareness of their 
nature conservation importance to owners, planners and conservation bodies, to help preserve them for 
future generations to enjoy.  

 

¢ƘŜ ǎƛǘŜǎΩ ŜƭƛƎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ŘŜǎƛƎƴŀǘƛƻƴ was based on their meeting several flora and fauna criteria, which, 
through revision, can vary over time.  
 
Concerning the zoning: 
A) the three lakes were obviously included in this classification, yet so were the two old landfill sitesΩ 

(A3) which had been filled, assumedly rendering them contaminated; and it may have been this 
consideration that, negatively, made them un-developable, and, positively, left them open to 
natural regeneration; 

B) protected industrial siteΩ on the old wash millΩ site. It has subsequently not been developed for 
industrial use but for wholesale and warehousing uses; 

C) the preferred use of this land was not identified, leaving it open to question, though the passing 
of the public safety zoneΩ (intended to control the development iƴ ǘƘŜ ŀƛǊǇƻǊǘΩǎ ƭŀƴŘƛƴƎ 
approach/taking off path) through the western part may have inhibited its potential; 

D) the outline proposals for the Cambridge Airport area of major changeΩ, which included generous 
provision of open space, seemingly ƛƳǇŀŎǘŜŘ ƛŘŜŀǎ ŦƻǊ ǳǎŜǎ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩs Lane ς such as the 
city wildlife sites;  

E) the Spinney/Hayster area, surrounding the school, effectively became buffer zone to the more 
protected Lakes.  

 

As regards general policy (3/9), the plan recognises that, among other watercourses and water bodies: 
 
the water-filled pits south of Coldham's Lane Χ are important to the character and form of the City. They 
are rich in wildlife and offer important opportunities for leisure and recreation as well as providing a 
drainage function. It is important that any development proposed alongside these watercourses or that 
use the watercourses protects and, where possible, enhances this vital resource. [As such,] development 
will be permitted if it is demonstrated that it would: a. complement and enhance the waterside setting; 
b. maintain or improve public access to and along the waterside; c. maintain and enhance the biodiversity 
of the watercourses and other bodies of water and their margins; and d. in the case of recreational 
development, there is sufficient capacity to accommodate additional usage of the waterway arising from 
the development. 
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Figure 56  The 2009 iteration of the 2006 Local 

Plan (adapted from Ordnance Survey / AGB 
Environmental Ltd ) 

A1: the Territorial Army (Army Reserve) pit City Wildlife Site. 
A2: the Norman CementΩ City Wildlife Site. 

A3: the /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ hƭŘ [ŀƴŘŦƛƭƭ {ƛǘŜǎΩ City Wildlife Site. 

B: Protected Industrial Site. 

C: not zoned. 
D: Cambridge Airport Area of Major ChangeΩ  

E: the Spinney / Hayster Protected Open Space. 

___: Public Safety Zone 

In 2009 the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government deleted several policies from 
the 2006 Local Plan, referred to as savedΩ policies coming from previous local plans, which were 
deemed as not reflecting current government policy. The result was that there was a 2009 iteration of 
the Local Plan that differed in several ways to the 2006 version, and this had some effect on the 
cement pits site as can be seen in Nature Conservation Strategy, 2006Ω below.  
 
Nature Conservation Strategy, 2006 
 
Building on the 2005 Register, the 2006 Nature Conservation Strategy was prepared by the Wildlife 
Trusts for the City Council as a Supplementary Planning Document to the 2006 Local Plan. In its 
Summary of Existing Resource the strategy noted that  
 

brownfield sites, though rarely undeveloped for long in Cambridge, can develop into valuable wildlife 
ƘŀōƛǘŀǘǎΦ ¢ƘŜ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ hƭŘ [ŀƴŘŦƛƭƭ ǎƛǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦƻǊƳŜǊ bƻǊƳŀƴ /ŜƳŜƴǘ ²ƻǊƪǎ ǎƛǘŜ ŀǊŜ ŜȄŀƳǇƭŜǎ 
of brownfield sites that have developed considerable wildlife interest. 

 
It is noticeable that in the 2009 iteration of the Local Plan (Figure 51 above) the Spinney/Hayster Open 
Space is labelled as Protected Open SpaceΩ whereas in the Nature Conservation Strategy it is recorded 
as a City Wildlife Site. Its current (2015) status is uncertain.    
 
The Norman Cement Pits (the Lakes) along with the Spinney and Hayster Open Space were also 
identified as potential new nature reservesΩ possibly being declared so after 2011 ς changing their 
status from localΩ to statutory.  Furthermore, the Norman Cement Pits, the CU Officer Training Corps 
Pit, the Spinney/IŀȅǎǘŜǊ ƭŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ hƭŘ [ŀƴŘŦƛƭƭ {ƛǘŜǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ designated 
nature conservation sitesΩ.  
 
The filled-in pits (AΩ and BΩ in Figure 52 above) were defined as natural grassland with trees and 
shrubsΩ, and therefore having the potential for conservation or perhaps open space. The area was also 
ǇŜǊŎŜƛǾŜŘ ŀǎ ōŜƛƴƎ ŀ ŎƻƳǇƻƴŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘƛǾŜ ƎǊŜŜƴ ŎƻǊǊƛŘƻǊ όŦǊƻƳ ¢ŜǾŜǊǎƘŀƳ ǘƻ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ 
Common) that was a central part of the Airport Area of Major ChangeΩ. 
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Figure 57  Nature Conservation Strategy, 2006 (adapted 

from Ordnance Survey / AGB Environmental Ltd) 

A: Army Reserve Lake ς City Wildlife Site 

B: Norman Cement Pits (Lakes) ς City Wildlife Sites 
C: Spinney & Hayster Open Space ς City Wildlife Site 

D: /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜ hƭd Landfill Sites ς City Wildlife Site 
E: Natural Calcareous Grassland with Trees & Shrubs 

F: Existing Broadleaf Woodland or Tree Belt 

 
 

The 2006 Nature Conservation Strategy could be considered as a form of review of the 2006 Local 
Plan, in as much as it made some recommendations for amendments to the Local Plan, such as 
designation of many of the sites as nature reserves. Noticeable too is the identification of the western 
filled-in pits (labelled EΩ in Figure 57 above) as Natural Calcareous Grassland with Trees and ShrubsΩ, 
rather than un-classified as in the 2009 iteration of the 2006 Local Plan. As this is taken as being 
contaminated land, its development potential was uncertain.  This is accompanied by the 
distinguishing of the Existing Broadleaf Woodland or Tree BeltΩ that lies beside the Protected 
Industrial SiteΩ ŀƴŘ /ƻƭŘƘŀƳΩǎ [ŀƴŜΦ   
 
Draft Open Space and Recreation Strategy, 2011 
 
This strategy, and the consultation on its draft, was one of the documents launched by the City Council 
to inform the re-drafting of the Local Plan (the 2014 plan). Its assessment of open spaces was 
undertaken largely ward by ward.   
 
In Cherry Hinton Ward it was noted that: 

 
many of the natural and semi-natural green spaces are not well-managed and maintained.  Whilst a 
balance should be sought between access and biodiversity, the sites adjacent to the lakes (NAT Χ 32 and 
26) are suffering from poor quality maintenance. On some of the sites, selfset trees are taking over, 
reducing the biodiversity of the scrubland.  The most significant problem, however, relates to access. 
There is obvious demand to enter the lakes from adjacent sites, including the Spinney Primary School and 
Cherry Hinton Brook.  This desire for access has given rise to vandalism and other anti-social behaviour.  

 
NAT 32 and 26Ω refers to the Hayster/Spinney open space which border the lakes.  In Coleridge ward it 
was stated that:  

 
the Lakes adjacent to Cherry Hinton Brook (NAT 28) are in a mix of ownerships and are not publicly 
accessible.  Although the lakes are both deep and dangerous, due to the crumbling nature of the banks 
and the lack of surveillance, they are frequently accessed informally from a number of access points.  

 
Nat 28 is the lakes. Although the Army Reserve lake falls within Romsey Ward it was not mentioned, 
possibly due to its use in Army Reserve training.  


